UNIVERSITY OF COPENHAGEN FACULTY OF SCIENCE



Master's thesis:

The ageing muscle: Macrophage kinetics and local inflammation in response to resistance training

Den aldrende muskel: Makrofager og lokal inflammation i forbindelse med styrketræning.

Simon Marqvard Jensen (KU username: Sxq708) Human Physiology Internal supervisor: Jørgen Wojtaszewski External supervisor: Michael Kjær

60 ECTS Submitted: 15-07-2016

Preface

This study was performed at Institute of Sports Medicine Copenhagen, Bispebjerg Hospital.

This thesis could not have been written without the help from a number of people. I want to thank everyone at the institute for all help and guidance received during my time here. A special thanks to my supervisor at the hospital: Michael Kjær, my supervisor at Copenhagen University: Jørgen Wojtaszewski, everyone involved in the LISA study and everyone from the ISMC "muscle group".

Abstract:

Macrophages play a central role in skeletal muscle repair. Macrophages secrete pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines important for successful regeneration of muscle fibers. Age related muscle loss has been associated with increased systemic levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines similar to those expressed by macrophages. It is speculated that an increased inflammatory environment in local tissue impairs muscle regeneration in elderly, contributing to reductions in muscle mass. Resistance training is believed to enhance the anti-inflammatory properties of the muscle, protecting against or counteracting an inflammatory environment.

Purpose: The primary aim of this study was to investigate local macrophage content following an acute bout of unaccustomed exercise and after a 12 week training intervention in young and elderly subjects. Secondarily, we wanted to develop a method for detection of macrophage subtypes in human muscle cross sections.

Methods: Data from two separate studies were analyzed. Study 1: *Acute study*. 27 elderly men (mean \pm SD: age = 70.3 \pm 6.6) performed one bout of unilateral leg extension consisting of 5 x 12 concentric repetitions (70% 1RM) followed by 4 x 6 eccentric repetitions (110% 1RM). 4 biopsies from the vastus lateralis were analyzed: one sample prior (PRE) to the training bout and 3 samples in the days following the training bout (1day, 4days and 7days). *Study 2: training study*. 10 young (mean \pm SD: age = 22.4 \pm 1.8) and 10 elderly men (mean \pm SD: age = 66.6 \pm 4.2) were subjected to 36 training sessions (12 weeks with 3 sessions/week). Biopsies were taken before the training intervention (PRE) and following the training intervention (POST). For both studies, immunohistochemistry was performed for total macrophages (CD68+CD163+) and pro-inflammatory macrophages (CD68+CD163-). Additionally, iNOS and TNF- α was tested as possible markers for pro-inflammatory macrophages.

Results: *Acute study:* Infiltration of CD68+ cells increased significantly within 24 hours (0.037 vs 0.055 cells/fiber, P = 0.046). Gradual increases were observed during the following days, with highest detected counts 7 days following the training bout (0.104 cells/fiber, P < 0.001). CD68+CD163+ cells were significantly elevated on day 4 (0.047 cells/fiber) and day 7 (0.069 cells/fiber) when compared to PRE (0.020 cells/fiber) and day 1 (0.029 cells/fiber). CD68+CD163- baseline results (0.014 cells/fiber) cells tended to increase on day 4 (0.022, P = 0.051) and significantly increased on day 7 (0.026 cells/fiber, P = 0.014). *Training study:* Local changes in CD68+ cells were observed for the OLD group (0.047 cells/fiber vs 0.068 cells/fiber, P = 0.042) but not for the young group post exercise. No changes were observed over time for CD68+CD163+ cells in any of the groups, but in general OLD muscle contained more CD68+CD163+ cells compared to young muscle (P = 0.020). At baseline, young muscle contained more CD68+CD163- cells than muscle in elderly (0.019 cells/fiber vs 0.009 cells/fiber, P = 0.002).

Conclusion: These findings illustrate an increased local macrophage content following one physiological bout of resistance training. In contrast to our expectations, there was generally no sign of local accumulated macrophage content following a 12 week training intervention. Differences in pro- and anti-inflammatory macrophage content when comparing young and elderly may play a role for changes in muscle structure/quality as seen with progressing age. Finally, no successful staining protocol was evident using iNOS or TNF- α for pro-inflammatory macrophages.

Table of contents

Preface	
Abstract	
Table of contents	
1. Introduction	
1.1 What is Sarcopenia	6
1.2 Human muscle structure and physiology	
1.3 Possible mechanisms underlying changes in muscle mass and quality	
1.3.1 Satellite cells	
1.3.2 Inflammation	
1.3.2.1 Inflammation scenarios	
1.3.3 Macrophages – Origin and types	
1.3.4 Macrophages following muscle damage	
1.4 Macrophages and their influence on Myogenic precursor cells (MPC)	
1.5 Inflammation in the aging muscle	
1.6 Physical activity and inflammation	
1.7 Thesis statement	
1.8 Hypothesis	
2 Materials and Methods	
2.1 Study 1 – acute study	
2.2 Study 2 – Training study	
2.2.1 Biopsy procedure	
2.2.2 Immunohistochemistry	
2.2.3 Image acquisition and analysis	
2.3 Data analysis	
2.4 Statistical testing	
2.5 Methodological considerations	
2.5.1 Choosing antibodies	
2.5.2 Fiber count	
3 Results	
	4

A	Acute Study: CD68+ cells	37
3	3.1 Acute Study: CD68+CD163+ cells	38
3	3.2 Acute Study: CD68+CD163- cells	38
Э	3.3 Acute Study: Satellite cell content	39
Э	3.4 Training study: CD68+ cells	10
Э	3.5 Training study: CD68+CD163+ cells	11
Э	3.6 Training study: CD68+CD163- cells	11
3	3.7 Training study: Mean fiber area	12
4 Dise	cussion	14
4	4.1 Methodological considerations	14
4	1.2 Local CD68+ cells following acute unaccustomed bout of heavy resistance training	46
4	1.3 Local changes in macrophage subtypes following acute bout of resistance training	47
4	1.4 Macrophages and satellite cells	18
4	1.5 Mean fiber area following a 12 weeks training intervention	19
4	4.6 CD68+ cells in resting muscle	50
4	1.7 CD68+ following a 12 weeks resistance training intervention	51
4	1.8 Changes in macrophage subtypes following a 12 week resistance training intervention	52
4.9	General considerations	53
5 Cor	clusion	54
Refer	ences	55
Appe	ndix	61

1. Introduction

The number of people aged ≥ 60 years is expected to grow rapidly worldwide. It is estimated that within the year 2050, people older than 60 years will triple compared to now, with people aged +85 being the most rapidly expanding demographic group altogether (Garatachea et al. 2015). Combined, with an increased life expectancy (WHO 2013) these demographic shifts present new challenges to public institutions, health care institutions and society in general. Healthy aging is essential to maintain independent daily function and life quality as we age. From an economic standpoint healthy aging may prolong work force activity and benefit medical and health expenses for public institutions. Therefore, investigating the mechanisms responsible for progressed muscle loss and loss of physical function in relation to age are of great relevance to counteract or postpone symptoms.

Although numerous studies have investigated the aging muscle, the exact mechanisms causing an age related muscle loss have not yet been clarified. Several factors such as anabolic resistance, muscle denervation, diminished satellite cells and increased pro-inflammatory cytokines have all been proposed as contributing factors (Garatachea et al. 2015). Although the main focus of this assignment will be on macrophages and inflammation, other topics will be presented. This is necessary to understand and investigate the complex overlapping physiological mechanisms believed to contribute to age related muscle loss also referred to as *Sarcopenia*.

1.1 What is Sarcopenia

All body movements are produced by contractions of skeletal muscle. The amount of skeletal muscle mass is considered to be a major determinant of muscle strength which is important to carry out everyday tasks and maintain high quality of life. It is well known that human skeletal muscle mass starts to decrease at minimal speed from age 25-30, accelerating as we come closer to the age of 60 (Lexell, Taylor, and Sjöström 1988; Garatachea et al. 2015). A study by Dechenes (Deschenes 2004) specifies these findings. They have found that muscle strength is well maintained until we reach an age of 50, however, over 10 years (between our 50th and 60th year) an increased decline in strength is detected. This decline is even more pronounced beyond the age of 60 years



Figure 1. Prevalence of sarcopenia for men (top) and women (bottom) at different age groups. Class I sarcopenia: muscle mass between -one to -two SD compared to young adult mean. Class II sarcopenia: muscle mass below two SD compared to young adult mean. Illustration from Janssen et al. (2002).

(Deschenes 2004). Also, a study by Grimby et al. has shown that by the age of 60 total muscle mass has decreases by 25-30% before we reach an age of 70.

Sarcopenia is a term created to refer to age related loss of muscle mass, quality and strength (Garatachea et al. 2015). Although Sarcopenia has not been internationally accepted as a definition in medical literature it is still used in clinical settings defined as the combined symptoms of impaired walking capability (low gait speed or endurance in a 6-min walk) and a muscle mass lower than 2 standard deviations from the mean measured in young men between age 20-30 years (Baumgartner et al. 1998; Garatachea et al. 2015). An epidemiologic study by Baumgartner tried to clarify the extent of Sarcopenia in the general population. The study shows that prevalence of Sarcopenia was seen in 25% of people younger than 70 years and more than 50% of people aged 80 years and older (Baumgartner et al. 1998). These numbers are supported by a study by Janssen in which almost 15.000 subjects aged 18 and older were examined (Janssen, Heymsfield, and Ross 2002). Results are shown in figure 1 and illustrate the prevalence of Sarcopenia in the general population at different ages. The figure not only emphasizes that Sarcopenia poses a threat to a large amount of elderly, but also illustrates the accelerated development of Sarcopenia until we reach a certain age.

Any impairment in the functional properties of skeletal muscle results in some degree of immobility. Accidents and injuries occurring to Sarcopenic elderly has been linked to an increased loss of independent daily function. This affects life quality and increases hospitalization, morbidity and even mortality (Deschenes 2004; Janssen, Heymsfield, and Ross 2002). Sarcopenia therefore poses a major public health problem that will have to be addressed to increase life quality and independency for the individual but also for public health care institutions.

The mechanisms causing sarcopenia has been investigated in a large number of studies. The following will describe the observed changes in fiber size and count as an effect of ageing. This will be accompanied by a number of studies investigating the possible mechanisms causing age related changes in muscle. One of the components making Sarcopenia difficult to investigate is its long term duration and gradually increasing influence with age. These properties make it hard to identify the exact mechanisms initiating, maintaining and enhancing the physiological changes during ageing. Many studies have addressed sarcopenia by isolating a certain topic or pathway. Others have tried to analyze the interaction of many physiological mechanisms and pathways (Garatachea et al. 2015). Both may be necessary to get a better understanding of the complex condition seen in the ageing muscle. It is important to note that several studies included in the following have investigated causes for Sarcopenia in extreme research protocols. Such protocols include cell necrosis, partial muscle excision, satellite cell depletion etc. Many of such studies have been carried out in animals, questioning their applicability to humans. In addition to that strength training protocols carried out in humans often reflects the extremes of the spectrum with limited parallels to muscle damage emerging in

everyday life. Such protocols may be necessary to examine basic principles, all adding to our current knowledge of Sarcopenia.

1.2 Human muscle structure and physiology

One of the current available techniques to analyze human skeletal muscle is the study of muscle cross sections. To study muscle cross sections in a microscopic scale, tissue samples have to be collected, obtained through invasive muscle biopsies. An example of a cross section is displayed in figure 2. The human skeletal muscles are composed of numerous cells called myofibers. In a cross section with aligned fibers most of these will have a pentagon angular shape (see fig. 2). Each myofiber is coated by a cell membrane called sarcolemma which is surrounded by endomysium. The endomysium is a type



Figure 2. Skeletal muscle cross section. Skeletal muscle consists of many fascicles. A muscle fascicle is formed by a number of myofibers joined together by endomysium (connective tissue). The fascicle is surrounded by an even larger layer of connective tissue (perimysium) connecting the fascicle with other neighboring fascicles.

of connective tissue that joins together the individual myofibers into fascicles as the one illustrated in figure 2. A part of the endomysium is referred to as the basal lamina. This layer and the sarcolemma surround the myofibers and form a small space between them, referred to as the satellite cell niche. This area will be of importance when we discuss satellite cells. Fascicles are surrounded by another even larger connective tissue layer called the perimysium which connects fascicles with one another. Myofibers contain myosin and actin which are vital to muscle contractions. Muscle contractions occur when action potentials from motor neurons are transmitted to the myofibers through the neuromuscular junction. The myofibers are then depolarized causing the sarcoplasmatic reticulum to release calcium ions which bind to actin filaments initiating the cross bridge cycles resulting in a contraction of the muscle.

Skeletal muscle fibers can be classified either as fast twitch (type II) or slow twitch fibers (type I). Briefly, type II muscle fibers are characterized by a large fiber diameter and a high contractile force and velocity, whereas type I is smaller and produces a lower force and velocity. In young muscle (25 years) type 2 fiber size is usually ranged between $3000 - 5000 \text{ um}^2$ and type 1 fiber size within the range of $3000 - 4000 \text{ um}^2$ (Andersen 2003). For both fiber types sizes however, big variations occur - as illustrated in figure 3 (Porter, Vandervoort, and Lexell 1995).

All muscle cells are innervated by alpha motor neurons whose cells bodies are located in the spinal cord. The motor nerves branch - with each branch innervating a single muscle fiber. The motor nerve and the fibers innervated by it compose a motor unit. In young muscle, fibers innervated by the same motor neuron are randomly distributed and intertwined with fibers from other neurons.

1.3 Observed changes in the ageing muscle

Studies have shown that atrophy is evident in single fibers with age - meaning that the cross sectional area of the muscle have been reported to decrease over time (Lexell, Taylor, and Sjöström 1988; Andersen 2003; Deschenes 2004). Additionally, studies have shown that single fiber atrophy is more predominant in type II fibers than in type I fibers (Andersen 2003; Porter, Vandervoort, and Lexell 1995). Andersen compared muscles fibers from a group of elderly (age 88) with a group of young (age 25) subjects and found that the type II fibers of the elderly were reduced to 43% of the young type II fibers, whereas the type I fibers in the older group were reduced to 75% of the younger group, observing a type I and type II fiber size at 2891 um² and 1704 um², respectively (Andersen 2003). The fiber sizes found in the study by Andersen are consistent with data from Lexell, provided in figure 3. These results indicate that type II fibres are more exposed to reductions in fiber size than type I. Considering that type II fibers are more dominant in force and power generation, this reduction could contribute to our understanding of the loss of power and strength seen in elderly.



Figure 3. Relationship between (A) age and mean area of type 1 and type 2 muscle fibers and (B) between age and total numbers of muscle fibers. From Lexell et al. (1988)

Another explanation for ageing muscle atrophy has been a reduction in muscle fiber count (Lexell, Taylor, and Sjöström 1988). The reduction in muscle fibers has been linked to a degeneration of motor neurons in the spinal cord. An early study by Tomlinson and Irving has shown that until the age of 60 there is no evidence of a diminishing motor neuron population, however when above 60 years of age, several cases have shown a 50% decrease of motor neurons compared to the counts conducted in adult life or middle age (Tomlinson and Irving 1977). This reduction in functioning motor units is considered to be a possible explanation for the reduction of muscle fibers in the ageing muscle, as denervated muscle cells ultimately disappear. According to Porter (Porter, Vandervoort, and Lexell 1995) the loss of muscle in elderly is mainly determined by the number of fibers and to a lesser extent by the number/size of type II fibers, however, they both seem to contribute to decreases observed in human muscle cross sectional area.

1.3 Possible mechanisms underlying changes in muscle mass and quality

1.3.1 Satellite cells

The human skeletal muscle fiber is one of few cells types that are multinucleated. Myonuclei are located in the periphery of the fiber in the space between the myofibrils and sarcolemma. Muscle hypertrophy and repair has been associated with, and is dependent on, addition of newly formed myonuclei (Shenkman et al. 2010). Incorporation of new myonuclei is provided by myogenic cells derived from muscle stem cells also known as satellite cells. Satellite cells have been investigated extensively because of their important role in muscle regeneration and hypertrophy; however their potential role in the ageing muscle has not yet been clarified.



Figure 4. Schematic of satellite cell fate and markers typical of each state. Quiescent satellite cells are located in the satellite cell niche - between the sarcolemma and the basal lamina.

Satellite cells have the ability to proliferate, differentiate and fuse into myotubes leading to new myofiber formation or reconstruction of existing damaged myofibers (Yin, Price, and Rudnicki 2013; Verdijk et al. 2014). In relation to satellite cells it is important to distinguish between muscle regeneration and muscle remodeling in response to strength training. Muscle regeneration is induced by damage leading to myonecrosis of the muscle fibers. Such damage is difficult to provoke under physiological circumstances (Grounds 2014). Muscle loading with no myonecrosis is sometimes referred to as muscle remodeling/repair, characterized by no regenerating myofibers. Muscle regeneration is often misused covering situations of minor muscle tissue damage or situations with small increases in muscle mass. This is incorrect according to Grounds (Grounds 2014) defining muscle regeneration only as a response to situations where myonecrosis has first occured. The importance of satellite cells in regeneration of muscle tissue is emphasized in studies where ablation of the total satellite pool completely inhibits muscle regeneration (Sambasivan et al. 2011) however this has only been investigated in animal studies.

In healthy, unstressed muscle, satellite cells are in a quiescent, inactive state located around the myofibers between the sarcolemma and basal lamina. This is also referred to as the stem cell niche (Yin, Price, and Rudnicki 2013; Conboy 2008). Upon activation, satellite cells change into satellite cell derived myoblasts also referred to as myogenic precursor cells (MPCs) (Saclier et al. 2013). Activation of satellite cells is initiated by muscle trauma, stretch or overload. When damage is minimal, satellite cells and their progeny

fuse with existing myofibers. Such injuries occur regularly during normal muscle activity, suggesting a continuous demand of satellite cells for ongoing repair throughout life. On the other side, massive damage to muscle fibers will stimulate myogenic precursor cells to fuse with each other to form new myofibers (Shefer et al. 2006; Grounds 2014). This is relevant in situations where muscle damage has induced cell necrosis.

Myogenic precursor cells can self-renew and go back to quiescence which is important to replenish the satellite pool. They can also commit to differentiation to become functional in myotube and myofiber formation (Yin, Price, and Rudnicki 2013; Zammit, Partridge, and Yablonka-Reuveni 2006). Collins and colleagues have shown that as few as seven satellite cells transplanted into a mouse can generate over a 100 new myofibers containing thousands of myonuclei thereby illustrating the proliferative properties of the satellite cell (Collins et al. 2005). Myofiber formation is believed to happen in two stages. First, individual differentiated myoblasts fuse with one another to create myotubes with few nuclei. Secondly, additional myoblasts are incorporated into the myotube forming a mature myofiber with contractile proteins (Yin, Price, and Rudnicki 2013; Zammit, Partridge, and Yablonka-Reuveni 2006). However, myotubes can also fuse with existing myofibers repairing the damaged fibers (Shefer et al. 2006). As previously stated, it is widely accepted that satellite cells play an important role in muscle regeneration and that muscle regeneration in the ageing muscle is impaired, however less is known about the mechanisms responsible for the impairment (Wagers and Conboy 2005; Conboy 2008).

The expression of different transcription factors allows for investigation of satellite cells and their contribution to tissue regeneration. In general, satellite cells can be identified from their unique position in the skeletal muscle tissue, located in the stem cell niche. As illustrated in figure 4, quiescent satellite cells, activated satellite cells and proliferating myogenic precursor cells all express transcription factor Pax7 (Zammit, Partridge, and Yablonka-Reuveni 2006). In some studies, satellite cells are activated, they rapidly initiate the expression of transcription factor MyoD. Compared to the Pax7 expression this can be useful to distinguish quiescent satellite cells from activated cells. Finally, myogenin marks the onset of MPC differentiation and fusion (Zammit, Partridge, and Yablonka-Reuveni 2006). The stage in which MPCs express myogenin is sometimes referred to as the late regenerative phase.

Verdijk et al. have investigated the human muscle satellite cell content over the entire lifespan. According to this study satellite cell content in type II muscle fibers decreases with age, whereas type I satellite cell content remains unchanged. Verdijk's study also investigates fiber type sizes and finds a decrease in type II fibers. They conclude that there might be a relation between the reduction in fiber type II size and the reduced satellite cell content (Verdijk et al. 2014). Considering that sarcopenia is age related muscle loss and the theory that satellite cells are responsible for muscle growth and maintenance throughout life, it is

reasonable to hypothesize that loss of satellite cells is a major determinant for sarcopenia. However, several studies have shown no sign of age-related loss of satellite cells (Roth et al. 2001; Wagers and Conboy 2005). Also, a recent study in mice has shown that if satellite cells are depleted at an early age and these mice age naturally no sign of either accelerated Sarcopenia or decrease in muscle size is seen; however the regenerative capacity of muscles is impaired (Fry et al. 2015). This contradicts the previous beliefs stating that sarcopenia is related to a loss of satellite cells. Instead recent focus has been aimed at factors affecting the satellite cell niche environment and the myonuclear domain (van der Meer, Jaspers, and Degens 2011) rather than the amount of satellite cells present in the myofibers. With a location within the niche the satellite cell is surrounded by other cells and the extracellular matrix which provide biochemical and biophysical signals that direct regeneration and self-renewal (Parker 2015). Therefore several other factors such as notch signaling (Parker 2015; Hikida 2011; Wagers and Conboy 2005), transforming growth factor beta (Burks et al. 2011), insulin-like growth factor 1 (Burks et al. 2011) and macrophages (Saclier et al. 2013; Chazaud 2014) have received increased attention as possible mechanisms regulating satellite proliferation, differentiation and fusion.

1.3.2 Inflammation

Inflammation is the body's non-specific response to a wide variety of tissue damage produced by mechanical, chemical or microbial stimuli. It is characterized by the movement of immune cells and fluids from blood into the site of damaged tissue, causing pain, redness, swelling and reduced function (Ferrero-Miliani et al. 2007). Local inflammation is believed to be an initial physiological protective response to tissue damage; however local inflammatory factors also mediate the repair of the damaged tissue (Mosser and Edwards 2008). In order to carry out these functions the process of inflammation needs to be strictly controlled. An insufficient inflammatory response to damage could lead to progressive tissue destruction by harmful stimuli, whereas an overly active response could become self-destructive and fatal to the host.

The strictly orchestrated inflammatory response to damage is caused by cells from the immune system. Immune system cells release small proteins known as cytokines, these are crucial for cell communication and regulation of inflammation. Cytokines usually act in a paracrine and/or autocrine manner modulating the behavior of local neighboring cells but also in the regulation of monocytes into macrophages. The list of discovered cytokines is long, Mosser (Mosser and Edwards 2008) and Mantovani (Mantovani et al. 2004) have provided a brief overview of some of the cytokines known to play important roles for macrophage activation. Cytokines are often classified as being either pro-inflammatory (e.g. TNF- α , Interleukin (IL)-1,) or anti-inflammatory (e.g. IL-10, IL-4, IL-1ra) depending on their role in the response to damage, however some cytokines have been suggested to have a pro- and anti-inflammatory role (such as IL-6 (Munoz-

Canoves et al. 2013)) illustrating the complex nature of different cytokines. Studies have shown that local inflammation is accompanied by a systemic response also referred to as the acute phase response. This response activates the production of other proteins that can be detected in the systemic circulation (Petersen and Pedersen 2005). The acute phase response demonstrates that cytokines do not only carry out their function in local tissue, they also promote changes in the circulation, regulating a large number of physiological pathways to adapt to exercise or injury.

C-reactive protein (CRP) is a non-specific acute-phase response to most forms of inflammation, infection and tissue damage. It is produced by hepatocytes in the liver in response to pro-inflammatory cytokines predominantly IL-6 (Pepys and Hirschfield 2003). A study including 468 healthy young adults found CRP median concentrations at 0.8 mg/l. In this study, 90% of samples contained less than 3 mg/l and 99% contained less than 10 mg/l (Shine, de Beer, and Pepys 1981). Following an acute phase stimulus, values may increase with up to 500 mg/l depending on the type of bacteria or infection causing the inflammation (Pepys and Hirschfield 2003; Clyne and Olshaker 1999). CRP levels increase rapidly and peak around 48 hours after infection and when the stimulus for CRP production ceases CRP concentration falls rapidly. In most diseases, the circulating value of CRP (although unspecific) reflects ongoing inflammation or tissue damage more accurately than other laboratory parameters, making it very useful marker for detection of inflammation and/or disease screening (Pepys and Hirschfield 2003). Increased basal levels of proinflammatory cytokines and CRP has been associated with reduced strength and muscle fatigue in elderly illustrating the possible link between systemic inflammation and sarcopenia (Bautmans et al. 2005; Visser et al. 2002).

1.3.2.1 Inflammation scenarios

Numerous repeated muscle contractions as seen in aerobic and anaerobic exercise change the systemic cytokine profile (Petersen and Pedersen 2005). Figure 5a, illustrates the changes in systemic cytokine profile in the hours following endurance exercise. According to Petersen (Petersen and Pedersen 2005), IL-6 is the first cytokine present in circulation. The level of circulating IL-6 increases exponentially (up to 100-fold) depending on duration and intensity of the performance. The increase of IL-6 is followed by smaller increases in anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 and IL-1ra. Post exercise increases in cytokines return to baseline levels within a few hours. As previously stated, IL-6 has both pro- and anti-inflammatory properties. During exercise, IL-6 has been suggested to originate from the contracting skeletal muscle tissue, classifying IL-6 as a myokine (Petersen and Pedersen 2005). Although still debated, the IL-6 myokine has been suggested to exert inhibitory effects on TNF- α and IL-1 production. Additionally, IL-6 has been associated with production of other anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1ra and IL-10 shown in figure 5

(Petersen and Pedersen 2005). These effects however, have been linked only to short termed peaks of IL-6 (Munoz-Canoves et al. 2013). The complexity of IL-6 is evident in studies where high doses or long term exposure to IL-6 is related to muscle proteolysis, revealing the complications of the IL-6 response and its functional properties (Munoz-Canoves et al. 2013).

Systemic (chronic) low grade inflammation, illustrated in figure 5b, has been introduced as a term for conditions in which a typically two- to threefold increase the in systemic concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1, IL-6 and CRP is reflected. Chronic low grade inflammation has been linked to various metabolic diseases and muscle loss (Petersen and Pedersen 2005). Little is known about the stimuli responsible for increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, but it is assumed that adipose tissue is the origin of pro-inflammatory TNF-α, contributing to increased inflammation levels (Petersen and Pedersen 2005). Chronic levels of inflammation have especially been associated with ageing in elderly (Degens 2010; Garatachea et al. 2015). In relation to that the term "inflammaging" has been used to describe chronic upregulation of the inflammatory response observed with advancing age. The mechanisms responsible for "inflammaging" however remains to be elucidated (Minciullo et al. 2016).



Figure 5. Suggested alterations in systemic and local cytokine appearance during different training/aging scenarios. (A) Endurance exercise has been associated with systemic increases in IL-6, rapidly declining again following exercise (hours). (B) Systemic low grade inflammation, has been associated with inactivity, ageing and visceral adipose tissue. It is defined as a long lasting increase in systemic pro-inflammatory cytokine concentration (months). (C) Local changes in muscle cytokine production following resistance training, has been theorized to be a two sequenced event with increases in pro-inflammatory cytokines prior to increases in anti-inflammatory cytokines. The sequenced response has been suggested to last from several days to several weeks.

Local changes in inflammation after muscle damage have been investigated in several studies. Most of these investigations have been performed in studies with severe muscle damage and tissue regeneration – often combining electric stimulation and eccentric exercise (Saclier et al. 2013; Tidball and Villalta 2010). The local response to injury has been suggested to consist of two waves of inflammatory responses lasting for several days to several weeks. The first sequence is characterized by pro-inflammatory macrophages expressing high amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α and IL-1b), followed by anti-inflammatory macrophages expressing high amounts of anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10 and TGF- β) (Chazaud 2014;

Saclier et al. 2013) (figure 5c). Cytokines expressed by macrophages are believed to play a crucial role in muscle regeneration, playing an active role in monitoring the muscle precursor cell fate, important for effective muscle regeneration (Arnold et al. 2007).

1.3.3 Macrophages – Origin and types

Macrophages constitute a crucial part of the immune system. They secrete various cytokines important for inflammation and protection against bacteria and foreign organisms. Additionally, their potential role as a myogenic precursor cell regulator makes macrophages an interesting topic to investigate further. Macrophages, for their phagocytosing functions, known have extensively been recognized for their central role in the innate and adaptive immune system preventing the presence of pathogens such as invading microbes. Due to this, macrophages have mainly been considered inflammatory and deleterious in the tissue. However, recent studies have shown that macrophages are also involved in tissue repair and regeneration, playing a key role in the orchestration of inflammatory and antiinflammatory processes resulting in tissue restoration (Benedicte Chazaud 2014; Murray and Wynn 2012).



Figure 6. Monocyte macrophage lineage. All cells from the monocyte macrophage lineage appear to derive from the hematopoietic stem cell located in the bone marrow. The hematopoietic stem cell can differentiate into the myeloid precursor cell, which is then able to migrate into the bloodstream and differentiate into the monocyte. Monocyte migration to specific tissues and further differentiation occur upon stimulation from cytokines from the local environment. Illustration from Le Douce (2010).

The term macrophage covers a wide range of cell phenotypes with distinct locations and functions (Kumar and Jack 2006). This thesis will focus on the type of macrophages located in the skeletal muscle. Macrophages in the skeletal muscle are believed to derive from monocytes. These macrophages express self-renewing properties but it is still not known whether the population maintains itself throughout life. Experimental studies with ablation of resident macrophages have demonstrated the capacity of bone marrow derived cells (monocytes) to replace resident cells either by converting themselves or performing a similar role (Davies et al. 2013). The bone marrow contains hematopoietic stem cells with the ability to divide and differentiate into different types of progenitor cells - one being the myeloid cell. The myeloid cells differentiate into the monocyte, which circulates in blood and is the mobile progenitor of the sedentary tissue macrophage (see figure 6) (Murray and Wynn 2012; Mosser and Edwards 2008; Kumar and Jack 2006).

During muscle damage or infection, monocytes are recruited to the site of injury. Monocytes extravasate through the endothelium and enter the tissue where they mature into macrophages and take up residency. The outcome of the maturation depends on the local environment in the tissue turning it into a cell with proor anti-inflammatory subsets (Murray and Wynn 2012; Kumar and Jack 2006; Mosser and Edwards 2008). These two opposing isoforms represent the extremes in a spectrum of many possible isoforms. The proinflammatory macrophage is also referred to as



Figure 7. Resident macrophages appear to reside and accumulate in the perimysium. Depicted is a muscle sample from a test subject showing a fascicle surrounded by connective tissue (perimysium). Orange areas represent macrophages which appear to be present in large numbers in the perimysium.

classically activated macrophage or simply M1, whereas the anti-inflammatory macrophage is known as the alternatively activated macrophage or M2. M2 macrophages can be further divided into three subtypes M2a, M2b, M2c – illustrating the many isoforms. It is worth noting that all macrophage populations have been investigated with well-defined stimuli in in vitro studies - therefore they may not imitate what happens in vivo, where additional stimuli may occur and overlap (Benedicte Chazaud 2014; Mosser and Edwards 2008).

The attraction of monocytes to the site of injury is believed to be orchestrated by the resident macrophages in the muscle tissue. Resident macrophages are accumulated in the perimysium and epimysium (Brigitte et al. 2010; Bénédicte Chazaud et al. 2009) (figure 7) and appear to play an important role for recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes from the circulation. This is emphasized in animal studies where depletion of

resident macrophages in injured muscle reduces monocyte infiltration after injury (Bénédicte Chazaud et al. 2009).

When referring to macrophages it is important to keep in mind that the word covers a variety of cells with distinct functional phenotypes determined by the environment in which they reside. Monocytes exposed to environments containing pro-inflammatory cytokines: tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) and interferon gamma (IFN- γ) will drive the activation of the cell towards an inflammatory phenotype. Inflammatory macrophages (M1) have an enhanced microbicidal capacity and secrete high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 and and TNF- α), reactive oxygen species (Mosser and Edwards 2008; Mantovani et al. 2004) and cytotoxic levels of nitric oxide



Figure 8. Monocytes from peripheral blood differentiate in response to mediators in tissues, giving rise to pro-inflammatory macrophages (M1) or anti-inflammatory macrophages (M2). Illustration from Brock, Caymanchem.com

(Tidball and Villalta 2010; Mantovani et al. 2004). Nitric oxide is produced by NOS (nitric oxide synthase) enzymes, these enzymes are in turn highly expressed by pro-inflammatory macrophages providing them their ability to produce NO and kill microorganisms (Mosser and Edwards 2008; Murray and Wynn 2012). Some studies have used the expression of NOS in pro-inflammatory macrophages to distinguish and identify these cells in muscle tissue using specific antibodies (Saclier et al. 2013). The pro-inflammatory cytokines produced by M1 macrophages are believed to be an important first component of host defense, also important for removal of cell debris in necrotic muscle fibers. Anti-inflammatory macrophages (M2) are activated primarily by the cytokines IL-10, IL-4 and to some degree IL-6 and are characterized by low levels of pro inflammatory cytokines. The activation of the various M2 macrophages are believed to dampen inflammation, enhance extracellular matrix synthesis and enhance wound healing and tissue repair (Saclier et al. 2013; Mosser and Edwards 2008).

1.3.4 Macrophages following muscle damage

The following chapter highlights the proposed mechanisms of local muscle repair following muscle tissue damage in various injury models. This assignment will primarily focus on local inflammation in relation to resistance training. The local inflammation response to resistance training is characterized by pro-inflammatory cytokines arriving prior to anti-inflammatory cytokines. This was previously illustrated in figure 5c.

Table 1 displays the current available techniques utilized to induce damage for investigation of local muscle injury and local inflammation. The table highlights advantages and disadvantages with each method. Most of our knowledge regarding local inflammation has been obtained in animals studies. It is important to note that it doubtful whether investigations conducted in animal studies also apply to humans; nonetheless, it may provide helpful insight to important mechanisms for future human studies.

Muscle damag	e models	Advantage	Disadvantage
	Concentric exercise	Easy to perform	minimal/no damage
Physiological damage	Eccentric exercise	Easy to perform	moderate damage, regenerating fibers?
Supraphysiological damage	Electric stimulation + Ecc./Con. exercise	Muscle damage/ regenerating fibers	Applicable to physiological situations ? Difficult setup
Disease		Defect mechanisms, causal explanations	Several mechanisms of interest may be influenced by disease
Animal studies	Partial excision Toxic injections etc.	Allow specific and invasive investigations	Applicable to humans?

Table 1. Available protocols to induce muscle injury and local inflammation in humans. The table highlights the advantages and disadvantages from current damage techniques. As illustrated in the table it is difficult to induce severe damage in human with the current available methods. In animals more invasive and specific investigations are allowed, however, we do not know if studies from animals are applicable to humans.

Animal studies

According to animal studies, neutrophils are the first responders to muscle damage. Neutrophils appear in elevated numbers within 2 hours, peaking 24 hours after damage. Following the onset of neutrophils, pro-inflammatory macrophages invade the muscle reaching significantly elevated concentrations 24 hours post injury continuing to increase in numbers within the first 48 hours after damage (Tidball and Villalta 2010).

As depicted in figure 9, pro-inflammatory infiltration of the tissue is followed by an increase in anti-inflammatory macrophages reaching a peak concentration around 4 days post injury. These antiinflammatory macrophages are believed to remain elevated for many days (Tidball and Villalta 2010). A review by Chazaud (Benedicte Chazaud 2015) confirms this timeline on macrophage alterations. Chazaud concludes that the same macrophage



Figure 9. Generalized time course of changes in myeloid cell populations (top) and changes in the expression levels of muscle-specific transcription factors, enzymes, and structural proteins in muscle following acute injury (bottom). PMN: neutrophils, M1: M1 macrophages, M2: M2 macrophages. Illustration from Tidball (2010)

kinetics are always observed after muscle damage in animals, but range, duration and presence of the two types of macrophages vary depending on the protocol used. A study in mice by Arnold (Arnold et al. 2007) has suggested that following skeletal muscle damage, macrophages eventually undergo a transition from proinflammatory to an anti-inflammatory profile. The cellular and molecular mechanisms responsible for the transition are poorly understood, however studies have speculated that macrophages/monocytes possess a plastic nature capable of converting its isoform.

Based on these findings it is speculated that inflammation undergoes a series of carefully regulated stages to ensure an efficient return to homeostasis. Several studies have shown that interfering with the sequence of macrophage polarization states leads to a defect in muscle regeneration. Especially, it appears to be essential for the pro-inflammatory phase to occur before the switch to an anti-inflammatory phase. This has been investigated by inducing anti-inflammatory cytokines at an early time point after damage or inhibiting anti-inflammatory cytokines at a late time point – both with the result of an impaired muscle regeneration (M Saclier et al. 2013; Chazaud 2014).

Human studies

In humans, a limited number of studies have investigated the behavior of macrophages. Originally intended to investigate the mechanisms of a repeated bout effect, Mackey (Mackey et al. 2011) examined the total number of macrophages in human muscles 48 hours and 30 days after electric stimulation. In this study proand anti-inflammatory macrophages were not distinguished but an increase in the total amount of macrophages (CD68⁺ cells) 48 hours after electric stimulation was observed. 30 days later, the stimulated leg still expressed a significant higher number of macrophages compared to the control leg – illustrating a prolonged macrophage response compared to that just seen in animals. However, since this setup was performed using electric stimulation it is uncertain whether a similar response would occur in humans under physiological circumstances. Another study (Paulsen et al. 2012), investigated inflammatory markers after eccentric resistance training of the elbow flexors. Alterations in macrophages were not the primary outcome; however they observed the highest individual macrophage (CD68⁺) cell counts at 4d and 7d after the exercise bout in those subjects that were moderately or severely affected by the eccentric training. Again, no differentiation was performed between pro- and anti-inflammatory macrophages. A study by Przybyla investigated macrophages in young and elderly following an acute bout of physiological resistance training of the lower limbs. 3 days after resistance training, no changes were seen in total number of macrophages (CD68⁺) in either young or old subject. In the young group, however, they found an increase in pro- and antiinflammatory macrophages, whereas no changes in subtypes were detected in the elderly, suggesting that the changes in young muscle may be caused by resident macrophages and not monocyte infiltration.

A study by Saclier (Saclier et al. 2013) investigated macrophage subtypes in protocols combining voluntary contractions with electric stimulation. 7 days after muscle damage, samples were analyzed for pro- and anti-inflammatory macrophages. The study found that pro- and anti-inflammatory macrophages were present in regenerating areas at the same time challenging the simplistic view that one biological event is associated with one type of macrophages. They claim that pro and anti-inflammatory macrophages coexist in the same regenerative areas; however, when macrophage subtypes were analyzed in relation to the phase of muscle regeneration (early vs. late, using myogenin) pro-inflammatory macrophages were more prevalent in the early regenerative phase whereas anti-inflammatory macrophages were more apparent during the late phase of regeneration. This indicates a shift from one macrophage subtype to another which may overlap spatially and temporally. It is important to keep in mind that this study is very invasive, intended to cause muscle necrosis and muscle regeneration it may therefore not represent what happens under normal resistance training settings where necrotic fibers are unusual (Paulsen et al. 2012).

1.4 Macrophages and their influence on Myogenic precursor cells (MPC)

Cytokines are proteins important for cell communication; they orchestrate the immune system and play an important role for regulation of monocytes into pro or anti-inflammatory macrophages. Additionally, cytokines expressed by macrophages are suggested to regulate the myogenic precursor cell (MPC) fate, playing an important role for muscle regeneration, repair and maintenance. In a study by Arnold (Arnold et

al. 2007) MPC were isolated in different media containing macrophages treated with pro inflammatory cytokines (LPS/INFy) or anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-4 and IL-10) to investigate their influence on MPC activity. As illustrated in figure 10, MPC's treated in pro-inflammatory medium expressed enhanced growth and proliferation, whereas the anti-inflammatory media increased MPC differentiation and fusion. This suggests that the macrophage activation state monitor the myogenic process (Arnold et al. 2007). This is in line with the previously described human in vivo study by Saclier (Saclier et al. 2013). This study found that pro- and antiinflammatory macrophages coexisted in regenerating muscle areas. However, they found that early regenerating areas (not expressing myogenin) contained more pro-inflammatory macrophages, whereas late regenerating areas (expressing myogenin) contained more anti-inflammatory macrophages. These findings support the theory that MPC exposure to pro-inflammatory cytokines stimulates initial expansion and proliferation, followed by anti-inflammatory exposure to cytokines enhancing differentiation and fusion important for optimal repair.

One way the orchestration of the pro- and anti-inflammatory response is regulated could be the transformation of macrophages from one phenotype to another. The previously mentioned study by Arnold (Arnold et al. 2007) found that pro-inflammatory macrophages decreased their TNF- α secretion and increased their transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- β 1) secretion following phagocytosis of necrotic muscle cells, suggesting a switch from a pro to an anti-inflammatory phenotype (Arnold et al. 2007). The exact role of TGF- β 1 is not well known, but TGF- β 1 expression



Figure 10. Effects of activated macrophages on MPC fate. MPCs were co-cultured with untreated (NT), LPS/IFN- γ , IL-4, and DEX/IL-10 treated macrophages and analyzed for (A) growth (B) proliferation (C) differentiation (D) fusion. Cells were analyzed at day 3 after co-culture, except for BrdU incorporation – monitored during 24 hours of co-culture. Results are mean ± SEM of three experiments. * (...P. < 0.05). Illustration from Arnold (2007)

has been closely related to anti-inflammatory macrophages and tissue regeneration (Benedicte Chazaud

2015; Arnold et al. 2007). Increased levels of TGF- β 1 are seen 2 days after injury and are maintained throughout the regeneration process. Some studies propose that TGF- β 1 downregulates inflammatory TNF- α cytokine production and stimulate cell survival, fibrogenesis and extracellular matrix remodeling (Lemos et al. 2015; Tonkin et al. 2015), whereas other theories suggests that increased levels of TGF- β inhibit satellite cell activation and leads to the formation of fibrotic tissue in response to skeletal muscle injury (Burks et al. 2011). These actions propose TGF- β to contribute to tissue repair, which under ideal circumstances leads to the restoration of tissue, however excessive levels may lead to excess tissue fibrosis and low muscle quality (Leask and Abraham 2004).

1.5 Inflammation in the aging muscle

Macrophage infiltration is a natural process occurring in response to muscle damage or injury. Through the expression of various cytokines, macrophages provide important cues to the orchestration of growth, proliferation and fusion of muscle precursor cells contributing to muscle regeneration. Besides playing a major role in MPC fate, pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines also contribute to changes in the systemic inflammatory profile. Especially in elderly, heightened systemic inflammation has been associated with muscle loss (Degens 2010; Przybyla et al. 2006; Garatachea et al. 2015; Merritt EK et al. 2013). A study by Merritt suggests that impairment in the ageing muscle is a result of exposure to a heightened and prolonged pro-inflammatory signaling that disrupts the local environment leading to failed myogenesis. This study found that several pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF- α and IL-6 increased in ageing humans (Merritt EK et al. 2013). Additionally, Merritt found that nuclear factor kappa B cell (NF- κ B) increased in elderly. NF- κ B is a transcription factor closely related to the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α . The NF- κ B signal pathway has been linked to a loss of skeletal muscle mass in various disease and immobilization scenarios; however its relation to Sarcopenia has not yet been confirmed. NF-kB leads to muscle protein degradation, it enhances pro-inflammatory cytokines and blocks the regeneration of myofibers after injury (Li, Malhotra, and Kumar 2008). Separate studies by Visser and Bautmans have shown that increased systemic cytokine production is associated with loss of muscle mass and strength in elderly (Visser et al. 2002; Bautmans et al. 2005). Visser found that elderly (aged 70-79) with increased levels of TNF- α and IL-6 had a smaller muscle mass and strength compared to those with low levels of both cytokines. He also found that pro inflammatory cytokine levels were inversely correlated to muscle mass and strength, suggesting that higher pro inflammatory cytokine levels may contribute to Sarcopenia. In line with Visser, Bautmans found that skeletal muscle function correlated negatively with circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines (Bautmans et al. 2005). He did not see any correlation between TNF- α and muscle loss, but found that circulating II-6 and CRP were related to muscle mass and strength loss. Altogether it seems that increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines contribute to age related muscle loss. The mechanisms, however, have not yet been clarified.

1.6 Physical activity and inflammation

Exercise cannot reverse the aging process; however it can attenuate some of the deleterious systemic and cellular effects. A large number of studies recruiting elderly have shown clear effects of resistance training on muscle strength and power. A number of studies have also shown an increase in muscle mass in elderly, but these results are less convincing (Garatachea et al. 2015). As previously illustrated (figure 5a), endurance training is believed to markedly increase the presence of systemic anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-10. Both of these are believed to exert inhibitory effects on pro-inflammatory cytokines: IL-1 and TNF- α expression (Petersen and Pedersen 2005), thereby contributing to the suppression of a potential systemic low grade inflammation.

Compared to systemic inflammation and systemic inflammation markers, little is known about local tissue inflammation in response to resistance training and ageing. A study by Levinger has shown that a 10 week resistance training protocol did not influence the inflammatory profile or CRP levels in elderly (age 50) (Levinger et al. 2009). A longer intervention period has been proposed a necessity to alter the inflammation profile; however, it is unclear whether improved CRP levels in response to resistance training simply reflect reductions in fat mass. Greiwe et al. has shown that inflammation and the inflammatory response may be increased and dysfunctional in aged skeletal muscle (Greiwe et al. 2001). The study found that TNF- α was transcribed by young and old human myocytes and that TNF- α expression was increased in the muscle of frail elderly compared to young individuals. Additionally, 3 months of resistance training caused a decrease in muscle TNF- α compared with the control group (Greiwe et al. 2001). In general, it remains unknown whether systemic inflammation correlates with observed local inflammation. Though speculative, this may indicate that it may be necessary to distinguish local from systemic inflammation. Even though some cytokines may play an important role in both scenarios the direct link between systemic inflammation and local inflammation remains to be elucidated.

Most of our knowledge regarding inflammation and its role in skeletal muscle repair has been derived from human or animal studies with severe damage protocols. These protocols provide insight to mechanisms important for muscle regeneration, but may not imitate damage responses induced by physiological damage. As discussed, macrophages cover a wide variety of cells with distinct functional isoforms. Depending on their isoform they express pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines important for regulation and orchestration of myofiber formation/repair. It seems that the timing and type of cytokines expressed by macrophages is a crucial factor for successful regeneration of muscle. Also, a large number of studies investigating the ageing human muscle have associated heightened levels of certain pro-inflammatory cytokines, similar to those expressed by macrophages, with impairments in muscle quality and muscle mass. These findings make macrophages an interesting target to investigate further. Little is known about the presence of macrophage subtypes in skeletal muscle and what constitutes an appropriate inflammatory response to damage. Such investigations may contribute to our understanding of inflammation and the ageing muscle.

The purpose of this assignment is to achieve a method to detect macrophage content in tissue and apply it to investigate local changes following an acute and chronic resistance training protocol in elderly. So far, only a minimum of studies have investigated local tissue inflammation following a physiological bout of exercise in humans, which could be ascribed to a lack of reliable methods to detect macrophage subpopulations. Animal studies have suggested a timeline for the orchestration of macrophage infiltration, however we do not know if a similar infiltration is applicable to human tissue. Additionally, it is uncertain how a prolonged resistance training protocol influence local inflammation profile in muscle tissue and whether these potential changes can be detected.

1.7 Thesis statement

The primary purpose of this assignment is to investigate the local macrophage response after an acute unaccustomed bout of exercise and after a 12 week training intervention and further to develop a method for detection of macrophage subpopulations.

1.8 Hypothesis

It is hypothesized that macrophages infiltrate local tissue following an acute bout of heavy resistance training. The local response is characterized by an early infiltration of pro-inflammatory macrophages followed by an infiltration of anti-inflammatory macrophages a few days later. It is hypothesized that young muscles contain a more anti-inflammatory environment compared to muscle in elderly prior to 12 weeks of resistance training. Furthermore, 12 weeks of resistance training is theorized to alter the local inflammatory macrophages compared to baseline. For the detection of macrophages we hypothesize that co-labelling the CD68 antibody with either TNF- α or iNOS will serve as a potential marker for detection of pro-inflammatory macrophages, whereas CD68 combined with either CD206 or CD163 antibodies will function as a reliable marker for detection of anti-inflammatory macrophages.

2 Materials and Methods

Studies included

To test the hypothesis, a study named: counteracting inflammatory muscle atrophy (CIMA) was initiated at Bispebjerg Hospital. However, because of a delayed recruitment of test subjects in the CIMA study, samples from 2 previous studies performed at ISMC were analyzed instead.

The two following studies, an acute study and a training study, were chosen based on their design protocol. The protocol from each of these studies allow me to test my hypothesis, without analyzing data from the CIMA study. Both studies had a different emphasis in their original edition; however this should have no influence on the findings in this assignment.

2.1 Study 1 – acute study

This acute study was originally performed to test the influence of Angiotensin II receptor blocker (Losartan) on a strength training response. It was recently carried out and is therefore unpublished. This study is, due to the setup, well suited for investigations of changes in local inflammation after a heavy bout of unaccustomed exercise. The following describes the main characteristics of the study, from which biopsies have been received. Particularly, details of relevance to test the hypothesis described in this assignment have been included.

Participants

27 old (age 64-90 years) healthy volunteers were recruited for this study and assigned to either a placebo group or a group consuming Losartan. Inclusion characteristics are illustrated in table 2. Distribution of participants into the two groups was done in a double blinded manner with the placebo group containing 14 test subjects and Losartan group containing 13 test subjects. Test subjects had to be non-smokers with no hyper- or

Table 2. Inclusion characteristics. Baseline characteristics (Mean ± SD) of subjects in the placebo- and Losartan group.		
	Placebo (n = 14)	Losartan (n = 13)
Age, years Height, cm Weight, kg Body mass index, kg/m2	70.8 ± 8.4 179.9 ± 5.1 85.7 ± 8.7 23.8 ± 2.1	69.7 ± 4.0 178.8 ± 3.8 75.8 ± 7.6 21.2 ± 2.1

hypotension. Additional exclusion criteria were: medicine on a regular basis, cancer, connective tissue diseases or kidney problems. Only sedentary or moderately trained individuals were included in the study. Also, subjects participating in strength training or any other physical training activity on a daily basis prior to the study were excluded.

Study design

The acute study design is illustrated in figure 11. Losartan or placebo consumption started 10 days prior to an exercise bout and continued until the day when the last biopsy was taken (18 days later). Participants performed a 1 repetition maximum test (1RM) and a heavy bout of resistance training of the thigh muscles of one leg. The 1RM and resistance training protocol was performed in a knee extension device adjusted to each individual (Rehabilitation device, Technogym, Italy), with hips and knees flexed to 90 degrees.

On test day (day 0) people came in and performed their 1RM test. The results of the 1RM test were used to determine the load of the following resistance training. Resistance training consisted of 5 sets of 12 repetitions (70% of 1RM) of active concentric contractions followed by 4 sets of 6 repetitions (110% of 1RM) of active eccentric contractions.



Figure 11. Study protocol from the acute study. The biopsy extracted at -10d serves as the PRE reference sample in my assignment. Additional time points of investigation were 1 day, 4 days and 7 days. Biopsies extracted at -3 days and +4 hours were left out of the analysis

6 muscle biopsies were collected from each test subject over the course of 18 days (see figure 11). All biopsies were collected from the vastus lateralis of either the exercised leg or non-exercised leg. The first biopsy (-10d) was collected 10 days prior to the resistance training (day 0) before ingestion of Losartan or placebo – it therefore serves as a baseline test. The second biopsy (-3d) was collected 3 days before resistance training (week 0) and indicates the potential effects of losartan on resting muscle. These biopsies

were both collected from the non-exercised leg. After completing the resistance training (week 0) biopsies were collected from the exercised leg at the following timepoints post exercise: 4 hours (+4h), 1day (1d), 4 days (4d) and 7 days (7d). These biopsies were all used for detection of potential changes caused by the strength training bout.

2.2 Study 2 – Training study

This training study was originally performed to test the influence of vitamin D intake during resistance training. In my investigations the vitamin D group has been left out, analyzing only the placebo groups. This setup allows for investigation of potential changes in inflammatory content before and after a 12 week training intervention. Main characteristics of the study have been described in the following. Particularly, details of importance to this study have been included whereas some information has been left out playing no role in the investigations performed in this assignment. Additional information about this study can be found in Agergaard et al. 2015.

Participants

Healthy sedentary young (aged 20-30 years) and elderly (aged 60-70 years) men living in Copenhagen, Denmark were recruited. Subjects were excluded if they had participated in resistance exercise during the preceding 6 months, if they had a body mass index (BMI) < 18 or > 30 or if they had illnesses that could affect the musculoskeletal system.

Table 3. Inclusion characteristics. Baseline characteristics (Mean ± SD) of young and elderly subjects in the placebo group.		
	Young men	Elderly men
	placebo	placebo
	(n = 10)	(n=10)
Age, years	22.4 ± 1.8	66.6 ± 4.2
Height, cm	181.1 ± 5.5	178.8 ± 6.7
Weight, kg	75.6 ± 9.1	80.4 ± 9.3
Body mass index, kg/m2	23.0 ± 2.3	25.1 ± 1.1
CSA, cm2	59.0 ± 4.8	47.0 ± 7.3
Isometric muscle strength, Nm	209.5 ± 30.5	168.3 ± 35.3

20 young and 20 elderly men were included in the study. Participants were randomized to either a vitamin D group or placebo group. Young and elderly were randomized separately in an allocation ratio 1:1 for the two groups. 6 participants (3 young and 3 elderly) dropped out, but as they were all from the vitamin D-group this will be of no importance for my analysis which is restricted to only the placebo group.

Baseline characteristics for all 20 (10 young and 10 elderly) participants allocated to the control group is shown in table 3.

Training protocol

Participants were subjected to 36 supervised training sessions (12 weeks with 3 sessions/week) consisting of 5-10 minutes warmup on cycle ergometers followed by resistance training exercises of the lower extremities

performed in knee extension and leg press devices. Progressive loading levels were monitored and adjusted continuously throughout the entire training period. 1 repetition maximum (1RM) was estimated from a 5 repetition maximum test – performed every two weeks to ensure that training load was relative to the strength progression throughout the training period.

During the first 6 training sessions, participants completed 3 sets of 12-15 repetitions at 65-70 % of 1 RM. During sessions 7-12, participants performed 3 sets of 10-12 repetitions at 70-75 % of 1 RM, increasing to 4 sets at 70-75 % of 1 RM during session 13-18. From session 19 and on, participants performed 5 sets with training load progression from 8-10 repetitions at 75-80 % of 1 RM in

Table 4. Training protocol Agergaard et al.			
Training session	sets	reps	% of 1 RM
1 - 6	3	12 - 15	65-70
7 - 12	3	10-12	70-75
13 - 18	4	10-12	70-75
19 - 27	5	8-10	75-80
28 - 36	5	6-8	80-85

session 19-27 to 6-8 repetitions at 80-85 % of 1 RM in session 28-36. Exercises were performed in a moderate slow, controlled manner with 1-2 s in the concentric- and eccentric phase with a rest of 1-3 min between sets.

Original study design and biopsies

A biopsy from the lateral part of the m. vastus lateralis muscle was obtained before the training started (week 0) and after the last training session (week 12). At week 12, two biopsies were taken 4 h (TR+4h) and 48 h (TR+48h) after the last exercise session. Biopsies obtained before the training intervention (week 0) were randomly chosen from either the left or the right leg. Biopsies at week 12 (TR+4h) were taken from the contralateral leg to the one chosen at week 0, whereas the biopsy at 48 hours after last training (TR+48h) was taken from the same leg as the biopsy before the training intervention (week 0). The isometric strength tests performed before and after the intervention were carried out at time points with no conflicting influence on muscle samples and inflammation. Figure 12 illustrates the protocol for a given subject in the study by Agergaard et al. (Agergaard et al. 2015)

Biopsies used for this study

The biopsy performed +48h after intervention stop was left out of my analysis. The biopsy at week 0 serves as a baseline sample (PRE) and the 12week+4h biopsy as the post intervention sample (POST). Possible changes in PRE and POST biopsies are interpreted as beneficial effects of the training intervention.



Figure 12. Study protocol from the training study. The biopsy at week 0 serves as a baseline sample (PRE) and the 12 week + 4h sample as the post intervention sample (POST). The biopsy at 12 weeks + 48h was excluded from the analysis.

2.2.1 Biopsy procedure

All muscle biopsies at ISMC are collected with similar procedures (Agergaard et al. 2015;Saclier et al. 2013; Mackey et al. 2011). Since biopsies to test my hypothesis are acquired from studies conducted prior to my arrival at the institute, I did not assist in the gathering of these specific muscle samples. However, my participation in the CIMA study, originally intended to test my hypothesis, has provided me numerous opportunities to assist on biopsy collection and knowledge on the following technique.

Samples were collected from the m. vastus lateralis under local anesthesia (1% lidocaine). A small incision was made prior to the insertion of a 4-mm Bergstrom needle (Bergström, Stockholm, Sweden) with manual suction. After collection, the biopsy samples were freed from visible blood, fat or connective tissue - fibers were then aligned and embedded in Tissue-Tek (Sakura Finetek Europe, AJ alphen aan den rijn, Netherlands). Samples were frozen by immersion in isopentane, precooled by liquid nitrogen and stored at - 80° C until further analysis.

When all biopsies were collected and ready for further analysis, serial transverse sections (10 um) were cut from the muscle specimen mounted in Tissue-Tek in a cryomicrotome (HM 560, Microm, Germany) at -24 degrees. During this process cross sections were transferred onto SuperFrost Plus glass slides (Menzel Gläser, Braunschweig, Germany).

2.2.2 Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemical staining was performed one study at a time. Initially, sections were allowed to dry for 30 min. When dry, they were encircled with a water repellent Dako pen (Agilent technologies, US) and fixed in Histofix (Histolab, Sweden) for 10 minutes. Sections were then washed twice in TBS and incubated overnight in a 1% BSA (Bovine serum albumin) buffer mixed with two primary antibodies at 4°C. Double staining was necessary to determine macrophages and their subtype. Primary antibodies evaluation of for antiinflammatory macrophages were **CD68** (HPA048982, rabbit) and CD163 (SC-20066, mouse) both in a 1:200 solution with the BSA buffer. The next day sections were washed twice in TBS and incubated for 45 minutes in



performing a single bout of heavy unaccustomed resistance training. DAPI, CD68 and CD163 antibodies were chosen based on images from test samples analyzed prior to this study.

two secondary antibodies mixed in a 1% BSA buffer. Secondary antibodies were Flour goat anti-rabbit 568 (A-11036) and Flour goat anti-mouse 488 (A-11029) both in a solution 1:500 with the BSA buffer. Mounting medium (Prolong gold, Molecular probes) containing 4',6-diamidino-2-Phenylindole (DAPI) was used to stain the cell nuclei blue.

All sections from the chronic adaptation study (Agergaard et al. 2015) were stained in the same mix of primary and secondary antibodies. Samples from the acute study had to be separated into two equal sized portions, due to a larger number of slides. The previously described protocol was then carried out twice with identical solutions of primary and secondary antibodies for both protocols.

For further descriptions on groundwork for selection of antibodies see methodological considerations.

2.2.3 Image acquisition and analysis

Images were captured using an Olympus BX51 fluorescent microscope (Olympus Hamburg, Germany) with an Olympus DP71 digital camera conducting images from the microscope to a high resolution computer screen using the software Olympus CellSens standard (version 1.14, Olympus corporation). Images were captured with a 10x objective in a dark room at normal temperature. Macrophage staining was assessed from 2 nonoverlapping images of 882 x 663 microns, estimated to contain 200 muscle fibers. This procedure was chosen to avoid areas of perimysium as these areas contain large numbers of resident macrophages. Therefore, aligned fibers, covering the entire width and height of the image and areas containing no or little perimysium were criteria for area selection on biopsies. If two areas meeting all criteria did not appear, the best possible areas fulfilling the criteria were chosen. Three images of the same area were collected, representing each of the fluorescent colors used to analyze samples (DAPI-blue, CD68-red, CD163-green) – images were then later merged into one image consisting of the three layers. To avoid bias, areas were selected from DAPI staining, followed by the images of CD68 and CD163 associated with that area.

Images were merged using ImageJ (version 1.50B - www.fiji.sc) and then blinded (for time and drug) prior to analysis by assigning each picture a randomized combination of numbers and letters.

Picture analysis was carried out using ImageJ (version 1.50B –www.fiji.sc) using the cell counter plugin (Kurt de Voss, Sheffield University). Image area was measured and number of muscle fibers was counted for all images. Additionally, all images were counted for anti-inflammatory macrophages CD163⁺/CD68⁺/DAPI, macrophages that did not express the anti-inflammatory marker CD163⁻/CD68⁺/DAPI , and cells other than macrophages expressing the anti-inflammatory marker CD163⁺/CD68⁻/DAPI.

Figure 14 illustrates how macrophages were counted. Cell nuclei (DAPI) had to be placed centrally in CD68 and CD163 expression. To estimate location of the cell nuclei during analysis, three layers of images (DAPI, CD68, CD163) were merged with the option of removing or adding layers. Cells expressing CD68 and CD163 were counted as anti-inflammatory macrophages whereas cells expressing CD68 but not CD163 were counted as macrophages that were not anti-inflammatory. Due to a lack of better options (see methodological considerations) macrophages that did not express anti-inflammatory markers were treated as pro-



Figure 14. Identifying macrophages. Cell nuclei were stained using a DAPI antibody, macrophages using a CD68 antibody, and anti-inflammatory macrophages using CD163 antibody. Images were merged for analysis. Cells located centrally in CD68 expression only were identified as macrophages. Cells located in CD68 and CD163 expression were counted as anti-inflammatory macrophages (arrows).

inflammatory macrophages. This method, however, will not provide the absolute picture and is intended only as a rough estimate of events. All calculations performed for anti-inflammatory macrophages (CD163⁺/CD68⁺/DAPI) were also carried out for macrophages that did not express the anti-inflammatory marker (CD163⁻/CD68⁺/DAPI). The latter is the one now considered as a rough estimate for pro-inflammatory macrophage activity. Observing the CD163⁺/CD68⁻/DAPI activity was used as a measure for the specificity of the CD163 – revealing whether it binds to cells other than macrophages. Once image analysis was complete, images and associated data were unblinded for statistical analysis.

2.3 Data analysis

The results from the acute study and the training study were analyzed separately. The acute study consisted of 27 subjects (n = 27). 13 were assigned to a Losartan group, whereas 14 were assigned to a placebo group. One pre biopsy from a subject in the Losartan group was excluded due to its poor quality and anomaly, deviating significantly from all other biopsy samples to that time (Losartan, pre n = 12).

The training study consisted of 10 young and 10 old subjects (n=10). Similar to the acute study, one pre biopsy from the young group was excluded due to poor biopsy quality with fibers impossible to count (young pre, n = 9).

In both studies, cells were analyzed as CD68+ cells, CD68+CD163+ cells, CD68+CD163- cells, representing total number of macrophages, anti-inflammatory macrophages and pro-inflammatory macrophages respectively (see methodological considerations). Cell counts from images representing each individual biopsy were added together to get the total amount of CD68+ cells, CD68+CD163+ cells for each biopsy. The sum of each cell type was then divided by total area and total fiber count to get an expression of cell/fiber and cell/mm² for each biopsy sample. These calculations were carried out in Windows Excel and performed for all subjects and all time points.

2.4 Statistical testing

Data (cell/fiber and cell/mm²) was tested for normal distribution using a graphic approach and a normality test (Shapiro-Wilk, SigmaPlot ver. 13.0). Normal distribution is necessary to meet the assumptions of parametric statistical tests. Since data did not fulfill the requirements associated with a normal distribution, data was transformed using a logarithmic transformation. Transformed data was inserted to SigmaPlot (SigmaPlot ver. 13.0, Systat Software, USA) performing a two-way repeated measures ANOVA test.

In the acute study, subjects were tested for drug (, Placebo), time (PRE, 1D, 4D, 7D) and interaction (drug x time). The primary interest of this study was to investigate changes over time. Since no significant interaction effect were found for DRUG x TIME in any analysis, results from the Losartan and Placebo

group were pooled into one group containing all 27 subjects (results for individual groups are shown in appendix 1).

In the training study, data was log transformed and two-way repeated measures ANOVA test was performed for factors: Age (young, old), time (Pre, Post) and interaction AGE x TIME.

In both studies, results were treated as significant if P < 0.05 and a Student-Newman-Keuls multiple comparison procedure was used as a post hoc test to identify sample means significantly different from each other. Data are presented as geometric mean \pm back transformed standard error mean (SEM) unless otherwise indicated.

2.5 Methodological considerations

2.5.1 Choosing antibodies

In order to detect changes in muscle inflammation, being able to distinguish between pro and antiinflammatory macrophages is of great importance. Many studies distinguishing between pro- and antiinflammatory macrophages have done so in animal studies, where antibodies used for macrophage staining are relatively well known, however, antibodies in humans differ from those in animals. CD68 has been widely accepted as a marker expressed on macrophages and monocytes in humans, whereas CD163 and CD206 are associated with the anti-inflammatory subtype of macrophages, also in humans. Antibodies for these markers were assessed on test sections before applying them onto my actual biopsy samples. Initially, a CD68 antibody control test was performed using two different primary antibodies for CD68 staining (DAKO M0718, mouse, 1:500 & Sigma HPA048982, rabbit, 1:200) showing similar results. When determined on a primary CD68 antibody, this was then tested in combination with a primary antibody for CD206 (ab8918, mouse, 1:200) and later a primary antibody for CD163 (SC-20066, mouse, 1:200) to determine their specificity as subtype markers. In agreement with literature they both showed similar activity when analyzed with a microscope, therefore choosing one over the other would have no significant impact on results.

Choosing an antibody to determine the pro-inflammatory macrophage subtype, however, proved to be more difficult, as staining of pro-inflammatory macrophages is still poorly understood. Several studies and reviews by Mosser (Mosser and Edwards 2008), Chazaud (Benedicte Chazaud 2014) and Mantovani (Mantovani et al. 2004) have associated pro-inflammatory macrophages with cytokine TNF- α and iNOS - produced in the macrophage. Studies performing subtype staining of proinflammatory macrophages is, however, extremely limited. One study by Saclier (Saclier et al. 2013) used iNOS as a proinflammatory marker, her staining

though was performed on samples with regenerating areas not expected to be seen in samples included in the present thesis.

Several experiments with TNF- α and iNOS were performed on test sections in order to investigate their function as markers of inflammatory macrophages. Results are illustrated in figure 15. In the initial staining protocol anti-TNF- α (Abcom, AB34674, rabbit, 1:500) was used as a primary antibody on 5 samples. As depicted in figure 15a, this staining (red) reacted with muscle fibers and connective tissue making it impossible to detect macrophage subtypes, in contrast to the CD68 (green) antibody illustrated in the same row. Same thing was seen when using a iNOS antibody (chemicon, Ab5384,rabbit, 1:500) illustrated in figure 15b – again making it impossible to separate cells expressing iNOS from those that do not. Two new protocols were then tested using the same primary antibodies (iNOS and TNF- α) this time combined with goat serum to block background staining. This protocol did downgrade activity in the muscle fibers, but activity around the fibers still did not allow for analysis (figure 15c). A similar protocol was then tested on



Identifying the pro-inflammatory macrophage subtype. (B) No successful staining protocol was developed using iNOS (red) (C) or TNF-a (red). Scale bar in (D) corresponds to 100 um (D)

(A) TNF-a, CD68, merged images
(B) iNOS, CD68, merged images
(C) TNF-a + goat serum, CD68, merged images
(D) TNF-a + goat serum, CD68, merged images.

sections from a study by Saclier (Saclier et al. 2013), who induced severe muscle damage using electric stimulation. As no previous work, has investigated macrophage subtype alterations following a physiological bout of resistance training, we could not rule out the theory that pro-inflammatory macrophages are unaltered following exercise with no myonecrosis/regenerating fibers, explaining why we could not detect any pro-inflammatory macrophages in our immunohistochemical images. We involved the samples from Saclier to assure that we investigated sections that contained pro-inflammatory macrophages with certainty. Still however, we were not able to come up with a result that provided clear images (Figure 15d). We tested one additional protocol using another anti- TNF- α antibody (abcam, ab6671,rabbit, 1:100 – 1:1000) – but just like the others we were unable to see good immunohistochemical images.

Identifying the suitable antibodies for immunohistochemical staining of certain macrophage subtypes in muscle tissue proved to be a difficult task. We were unable to develop a method to detect cells expressing iNOS or TNF- α , believed to be associated with proinflammatory macrophages. Due to these difficulties analysis was performed using only the CD68, CD163 and DAPI staining. Cells expressing all 3 markers were counted as anti-inflammatory macrophages whereas cells that did not express CD163 but CD68 and DAPI were counted as pro-inflammatory macrophages. This method does not illustrate the exact circumstances and should be interpreted with care. However, it will serve as an indicator – and are believed to provide more accurate and reproducible results than an analysis involving any of the proinflammatory antibodies could have.

2.5.2 Fiber count

Prior to analysis, all biopsies were screened for size, fiber alignment and content of perimysium. This screening was performed to estimate a number of fibers that could be analyzed in all biopsy samples. Due to individual variations in biopsy size and quality an estimate of 200 fibers were chosen – this was the largest amount of fibers that could be counted if we wanted to include all test subjects. It was then estimated that one image of 882 x 663 microns with aligned muscle fibers holds roughly 100 fibers. Therefore 2 images of 882 x 663 microns were chosen to represent each biopsy. As previously stated, all captured areas were chosen in a blinded manner. Table 5 and table 6 shows the number of fibers counted for each of the two studies involved in this assignment.

Table 5. Fibers counted in Acute study		
Time	fibers counted	SD
_	(mean)	
Pre	201,2	± 47,5
1 day	206,1	± 53,9
4 day	227	± 63,7
7 day	214,8	± 65,6

Table 6. Fibers counted in Training study			
	Fibers counted (mean)	SD	
Young			
pre (n = 9)	184,2	± 28,1	
post (n = 10)	167,8	± 37,7	
Old			
pre (n = 10)	207,9	± 39,5	
post (n = 10)	178,6	± 42,8	

34

When all biopsies were analyzed, the method used to determine macrophage content in samples was assessed. The purpose of this assessment was to investigate whether macrophages are evenly distributed over the full biopsy area and whether 2 images are sufficient to estimate the amount of macrophages in a full biopsy sample.

For this investigation, biopsies from the acute study were selected. Biopsies from three test subjects were collected for all time points (PRE, 1D, 4D, 7D) based on biopsy size and biopsy quality. We decided that an appropriate sized biopsy for this evaluation contained at least four separate images (882 x 663 microns) fully covered with muscle fibers.



Figure 16. Distribution of macrophages in biopsy samples. Each time point (PRE, Day1, Day4, Day7) is represented by three individual samples, made up by 4 images. Images from the same sample were analyzed and compared using a graphic approach (blue dots). The corresponding table display SD values for each individual sample. Additionally SD values when comparing all subjects are displayed for comparison.

All images/areas from the same muscle sample were analyzed for positive cells (CD68+CD163+ cells/fiber) and compared - this would indicate whether macrophages are evenly distributed in each sample. The findings are presented in figure 16 where results from each time point (PRE, 1D, 4D, 7D) are illustrated graphically. Each blue point in the graph displays the amount of cells counted in one particular image. Additionally, the corresponding tables in figure 16 display SD values based on the four images for each individual sample (sample 1,2,3) and SD values between all subjects in the study for comparison (all samples).

The figure illustrates cell counts from biopsies split into 4 images. As expected, these results revealed that macrophages are not evenly distributed over the entire biopsy area. Some variation appears between each

image in the same biopsy. This variation is defined by a standard deviation (SD) illustrated next to each of the individual test samples in figure 16.

The standard deviation (SD) was generally lower in the individual test samples when compared to the SD value across all samples (Individual samples mean 0.014 vs. SD across all samples PRE: 0.054). This indicates that variation from the individual samples did not markedly influence the results from the total sample size. Increasing the number of analyzed images for each individual biopsy, provides a more precise cell count estimate for that specific biopsy. However, since the variation (SD) across all samples is greater, it appears that the physiological differences between test subjects (inter subject variance) influence the results more than the intravariance from a single biopsy sample. Therefore it is likely that counting additional images (3 or 4 - instead of 2) will only provide minor improvements, whereas adding additional test subjects to the intervention would have a greater impact on results bringing down inter subject variance.

One challenge to the applied method was the low count of macrophages in tissue sections - especially at early time points. In the acute study, mean fibers counted was > 200 to all times. When combining these findings with results from figure 16, absolute cell counts can be estimated, ranging from 4 cells to 8 cells for each person in PRE biopsies. Operating with small observations like these, make data more sensitive to inaccuracies and errors, compared to having large amounts of cells on each image.
3 Results

Data from the acute study is shown first, followed by data from the training study. 2 Additional data graphs, one from each of the two originally intended studies have been included. One illustrates satellite cell content in muscle fibers after an acute bout of exercise and provides useful information for the coupling between satellite cells and macrophages. The other graph offers information regarding myofiber size following 12 weeks of resistance training. This investigation was originally performed by Agergaard (Agergaard et al. 2015), but provide useful information for the interpretations of the results found in this study.

Unless otherwise indicated data is presented as geometric mean \pm back transformed SEM. Changes are marked with the asterisk symbol (*) if P < 0.05. If P < 0.001 changes will be marked with double asterisk (**). Additional symbols may occur, but will be explained below the affected graphs.

Acute Study: CD68+ cells

Figure 17 illustrates changes in muscular CD68+ cell content over time after an acute bout of resistance training. The baseline CD68+ value was 0.037 cells/fiber significantly increased to 0.055 cells/fiber 1day after a bout of heavy resistance training (P = 0.046). 4 days after resistance training the CD68+ cells were elevated to 0.075 cells/fiber, significantly higher than pre values (P < 0.001). 7 days later CD68+ cells increased even further to 0.104 cells/fiber significantly higher than both pre values (P < 0.001) and day 1 values (P = 0.005). When analyzing CD68+ cells/mm² baseline levels were 6.15 cells/mm². CD68+ cells increased significantly 1 day after exercise to 9.11 cells/mm² (p = 0.039). 4 days after resistance training CD68+ cells were at 12.75 cells/ mm², significantly higher than Pre value. Finally, 7 days after resistance training CD68+ cells were at 17.48 cells/ mm², significantly higher than pre (P<0.001) and day1 values (P=0.002).



Figure 17. Changes in muscular CD68+ cell content over time following an acute bout of heavy resistance training, (**left**) Illustrated as cells/fiber (**right**) illustrated as cells/mm². Values are presented as geometric mean ± back transformed SEM.

3.1 Acute Study: CD68+CD163+ cells

Figure 18 illustrates CD68+CD163+ cells after an acute bout of exercise. No significant changes were seen in CD68+CD163+ cell content 1day after one bout of heavy resistance training: Neither for CD68+CD163+/ fiber or CD68+CD163+/mm². 4 days after resistance training CD68+CD163+ cells/fiber were increased to 0.047 cells/fiber. This is significantly higher than pre (0.02 cells/fiber, P = 0.002) and day one (0.029 cells/fiber, P = 0.043). Similarly, CD68+CD163+ cells/mm² on day 4 (8.07 cells/mm²) increased compared to Pre (3.33 cells/mm² (P<0.001)) and day 1 (4.86 cells/mm² (P= 0.033). On day 7, 0.069 CD68+CD163+ cells/ fiber were found. This is significantly higher than Pre (P<0.001) and day1 (P = 0.002). CD68+CD163+ cells/mm² on day 7 were 11.77. This was higher than Pre (P<0.001) and day 1 values (P=0.001).



Figure 18. Changes in muscular CD68+CD163+ cell content over time following an acute bout of heavy resistance training, (**left**) Illustrated as cells/fiber (**right**) illustrated as cells/mm². Values are presented as geometric mean ± back transformed SEM.

3.2 Acute Study: CD68+CD163- cells

Figure 19 illustrates the content of CD68+CD163- cells following an acute bout of resistance exercise. Baseline value was 0.014 CD68+CD163- cells/fiber. No significant changes were seen on day 1 (0.018 CD68+CD163- cells/fiber). Although not significant, day 4 showed a tendency (0.022 CD68+CD163- cells/fiber, P=0.051) towards an increase after resistance training. 7 days after acute exercise a significant increase in CD68+CD163- cells/fiber is seen (0.026, P = 0.014). When analyzing CD68+CD163- cells/mm² no significant changes were seen between baseline (2.308 cells/mm²) and 1 day (3.021 cells/mm²). 4day (3.781 CD68+CD163- cells/mm²) and 7day (4.398 CD68+CD163- cells/mm²) both showed a significantly higher number of cells compared to PRE (4day vs. PRE, P = 0.025) (7day vs. PRE, P = 0.005).



Figure 19. Changes in muscular CD68+CD163- cell content over time following an acute bout of heavy resistance training (**left**) Illustrated as cells/fiber (**right**) illustrated as cells/mm². Values are presented as geometric mean ± back transformed SEM

3.3 Acute Study: Satellite cell content

Figure 20 illustrates the Satellite cell content in the Placebo and Losartan group following an acute bout of heavy resistance training. Data in this graph were analyzed in the originally intended study by Heisterberg, (unpublished), explaining why placebo and Losartan data graphically has not been pooled. As previously described in methods, -10d corresponds to the PRE biopsy time point in my investigation. Biopsies to time points -3d and +4,5h has been omitted (from my investigations) and +1d, +4d and +7 corresponds to their original time. There was no significant effect of Losartan on Satellite cell response to exercise, however a main effect of time for SC per type I fiber was found. Mean satellite cell content at baseline in type I fibers was 0,040 SC/fiber for the placebo group and 0,055 SC/fiber for the Losartan group. No changes were seen in satellite cell content at -3d, +4.5h and 1d. 4 days after resistance training, satellite cell content increased to 0,054 for the placebo group and 0,072 for the Losartan group. Since there was no significant effect of drug, losartan and placebo data were pooled. The pooled data were significantly higher at +4d compared to the two groups at baseline (Placebo + Losartan -10d vs. Placebo + Losartan group (0,076 SC/fiber) combined was higher than baseline satellite cell content (P < 0.05). No significant changes were seen in type 2 muscle fibers.



Figure 20. Changes in satellite cell content in the placebo and Losartan group, following an acute bout of unaccustomed resistance training (**left**) in type I fibers (**right**) in type II fibers. Results are presented as mean ± SEM * different from PRE (P < 0.05)

3.4 Training study: CD68+ cells

Figure 21 illustrates the changes in local CD68+ cell content following 12 weeks of resistance training. No significant changes were seen in CD68+ cell / fiber for the YOUNG group when comparing the PRE(0.053 cells / fiber) and POST (0.042 cells / fiber) group (P = 0.176). In the OLD group CD68+ cell / fiber content increased significantly from 0.047 cells / fiber (PRE) to 0.068 cells / fiber (POST) (P = 0.042). Additionally, when comparing the POST results for the YOUNG and OLD group, OLD had a significantly higher amount of CD68+ cells / fiber (P = 0.014). When analyzing CD68+ cells / mm², no effect was seen for TIME. For AGE a significant increase was seen in OLD POST group (10.18 CD68+ cells / mm²) compared with the YOUNG POST group (6.07 CD68+ cells / mm²) (P = 0.004).



Figure 21. Changes in local CD68+ cell content in young and elderly - before and after a 12 weeks resistance training intervention (**left**) Illustrated as cells/fiber (**right**) illustrated as cells/mm². Values are presented as geometric mean ± back transformed SEM.

3.5 Training study: CD68+CD163+ cells

Figure 22 shows changes in CD68+CD163+ cells in the training study. No changes were observed in CD68+CD163+ cells / fiber in the YOUNG group or OLD group following 12 weeks of resistance training. No interaction effect between TIME x AGE was seen for cells / fiber, but an increased number of CD68+CD163+ / fiber in the OLD group compared with the YOUNG group was observed (P = 0.020). CD68+163+ cells / mm² results were similar to those just seen. No changes were seen in the YOUNG or OLD group after 12 weeks of resistance training. No interaction effect of TIME x AGE were seen, but a significant difference for AGE illustrated a greater amount of CD68+CD163+ cells / mm² in the OLD group compared with the YOUNG (P = 0.006).



Figure 22. Changes in local CD68+CD163+ cell content in young and elderly - before and after a 12 weeks resistance training intervention (**left**) Illustrated as cells/fiber (**right**) illustrated as cells/mm². Values are presented as geometric mean ± back transformed SEM

3.6 Training study: CD68+CD163- cells

Figure 23 illustrates changes in CD68+CD163- cells following 12 weeks resistance training. No time effect was found in the Young or OLD group for CD68+CD163- cells / fiber. A significant interaction effect between AGE x TIME was found (P = 0.019). Within the PRE groups there was a significant difference between the YOUNG group (0.019 cells / fiber) and the OLD group (0.009 cells / fiber) (P = 0.002). No differences were found to the POST time. Results from CD68+CD163- cells / mm² also found no effect of time, but found an interaction effect of AGE x TIME. Within the PRE groups there was a significant

difference between the YOUNG (3.10 cells / mm^2) and the OLD group (1.51 cells / mm^2) (P = 0.004). No changes were found within the POST group.



Figure 23. Changes in local CD68+CD163- cell content in young and elderly - before and after a 12 weeks resistance training intervention (**left**) Illustrated as cells/fiber (**right**) illustrated as cells/mm². Values are presented as geometric mean ± back transformed SEM

3.7 Training study: Mean fiber area

Figure 24 illustrates changes in mean fiber area for a young and old group of subjects ingesting a vitamin-D or placebo supplement combined with 12 weeks of resistance training. Data in this graph is obtained from Agergaard et al. (Agergaard et al. 2015). For this reason both Placebo and Vitamin D groups are illustrated, although only the placebo group is of relevance for this study. A time effect (PRE vs. POST) was seen in type I and type II mean fiber area for the YOUNG group when combining Placebo and VITD. Young type I fibers at baseline were $4612 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ (VITD) and $4782 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ (Placebo) increasing to $4991 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ (VITD) and $5466 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ (Placebo) after the training intervention. Young type II fibers at baseline were $4663 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ (VITD) and $5202 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ (Placebo) increasing to $5620 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ (VITD) and $6179 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ (Placebo) after the intervention. In the OLD group, no significant changes were seen in type I or type II mean fiber area following 12 weeks of resistance training. Baseline values for the OLD placebo group were $4509 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ (type I) and $4016 \ \mu\text{m}^2$ (type II).



Figure 24. Changes in mean fiber area for type I and type II fibers before and after a 12 week training intervention combined with vitamin D or placebo consumption. (**top**) young subjects (**bottom**) old subjects. Results are presented as mean ± SEM.

4 Discussion

The main focus of this study has been to investigate macrophage kinetics after an acute bout of exercise and after a 12 week training intervention. Results from the acute study indicate that infiltration of macrophages in elderly human muscle occur within 24 hours after a physiological acute damage protocol. During the following days, the presence of macrophages in local tissue gradually increases, reaching the highest observed numbers of CD68+ cells on day 7. Due to limitations of the protocol, this was the last observed time point. When distinguishing between macrophage isoforms in the acute study, increases in anti-inflammatory macrophages were seen 4 days and 7 days after damage. Similar results were seen with infiltration of pro-inflammatory macrophages; however these increases appeared to be smaller.

Following 12 weeks of resistance training, no local changes were seen in macrophage content (CD68+) in young subjects, but an increase in elderly were observed. When analyzing anti-inflammatory macrophages, no effects of training were apparent for subjects in the old or young group, but generally subjects from the old group had increased content of anti-inflammatory macrophages compared to the young group. Pro-inflammatory macrophages were higher in the young group compared to the elderly group prior to the training intervention. After the training intervention though, no changes in inflammatory macrophages were seen when comparing the young and old group.

4.1 Methodological considerations

In order to investigate macrophage infiltration in local muscle, it was necessary to develop a reliable method to analyze macrophage isoforms. CD68+ combined with DAPI was used for detection of macrophage infiltration without distinguishing between isoforms. CD68 has been widely accepted as a marker for macrophage infiltration and has been used in several studies (Przybyla et al. 2006;Saclier et al. 2013; Mackey et al. 2011) and mentioned in several reviews (Tidball and Villalta 2010;Saclier et al. 2013). Additionally, some studies have used CD68 in combination with CD163 or CD206 to identify the anti-inflammatory macrophage isoform (Przybyla et al. 2006;Saclier et al. 2013; Mantovani et al. 2004). Some studies have suggested that CD68 is not a selective marker for inflammation (Paulsen et al. 2012; Gottfried et al. 2008). They have found that CD68 shows reactivity against more cell types than monocytes and macrophages and therefore should be used with great caution when determining inflammatory cells in frozen tissue sections. It is unknown whether these conflicting findings influence the amount of macrophages found in this assignment. However, a majority of cells found in this study have been identified by co-expression of CD68 and CD163. This co-staining strongly suggests that analyzed cells are indeed macrophages. Although some cells have been identified using only CD68, potential errors due to the antibody specificity should have only a minor influence on total macrophage counts, and no influence on anti-inflammatory cell counts.

Pro-inflammatory macrophages are characterized by high levels of INOS and/or TNF-α expression (Saclier et al. 2013; Greiwe et al. 2001; Mosser and Edwards 2008; Chazaud 2015), but only a limited number of studies have used iNOS or TNF- α antibodies for the detection of this macrophage isoforms. As described earlier under methodological consideration, we managed to come up with a staining protocol to identify macrophages (using CD68+DAPI) and anti-inflammatory macrophages (using CD68+CD163+DAPI) in human muscle tissue, however INOS and TNF- α did not seem to be reliable markers for identification of pro-inflammatory macrophages in this study. Staining with these antibodies was characterized by an overexpression of the markers in tissue sections. Various tissue staining protocols were tested for identification of pro-inflammatory macrophages including regulation of antibody concentration and background blocking, but no effective method was found using iNOS or TNF- α . An immunohistochemistry protocol usually involves a set of procedures necessary for successful staining. These procedures are often extremely sensitive to changes in concentration and timing. Therefore we cannot rule out, that factors other than the primary antibodies (iNOS/TNF- α) could have played a role for the results seen in this study. It is possible that iNOS or TNF- α could function as reliable markers for pro-inflammatory macrophages in human tissue under different settings or other protocols, however none of the tested protocols used in this experiment were successful.

We defined macrophages that were not anti-inflammatory (CD68+CD163+) as pro-inflammatory. This method, however, does not provide an accurate picture of infiltration, and should be considered only as a rough estimate of events, due to a lack of better options. Although the quality of the fluorescent CD163 and CD68 staining was generally high, making it easy to distinguish cells expressing CD163 and CD68 from those only expressing CD68, this method was occasionally challenged by cells partially expressing CD163 making their classification as pro or anti- inflammatory difficult.

To avoid areas of perimysium, two nonoverlapping images of 882 x 663 μ m were analyzed from each biopsy. In untrained elderly subjects, as those used in the acute study, each image was estimated to contain 100 fibers, resulting in a mean of > 200 fibers being analyzed for each person. Our 12 week training study involved old subjects, young subjects and a training regime. Resistance training and age are factors that influence myofiber size (Lexell, Taylor, and Sjöström 1988; Andersen 2003). This is evident when analyzing myofiber

Table 6. Fibers counted in Training study		
	Fibers counted (mean)	SD
Young		
pre (n = 9)	184,2	± 28,1
post (n = 10)	167,8	± 37,7
Old		
pre (n = 10)	207,9	± 39,5
post (n = 10)	178,6	± 42,8

count data from this present study. Fewer fibers were counted after the training intervention in young and old subjects, which may imply increases in fiber size. If muscle fiber size increases, fewer fibers will fit into the microscope image (Table 6). In order to compare young and old subjects before and after a training regime,

it is necessary to standardize to cells/fiber in addition to cells/mm². Results based simply on cells/mm² are not sufficient to explain actual observations, because increases in fiber size alter the image composition – resulting in more fiber area and less connective tissue. Therefore, when analyzing results, information about cells/fiber should be available for a better estimate of events.

As we have previously seen, some complications are associated with selection of 2 images. It appears that macrophages are unevenly distributed throughout the biopsy. The result from the image analysis may therefore differ within the same biopsy depending on the selected area. To avoid bias, area selection was chosen using DAPI images. Additional criteria for images were fibers covering the entire image (height and width). Biopsy cross sections vary greatly in quality and size. The protocol used in this investigation was intended to include the largest possible number of muscle fibers, without excluding a large number of subjects due to limitations in biopsy size. Another possible method could have been to analyze macrophage content in the entire biopsy. This method is sometimes applied when analyzing satellite cells; however this method would involve other difficulties such as avoiding/subtracting the perimysium where large numbers of infiltrating macrophages reside. A limited number of studies have investigated pro- and anti-inflammatory macrophages in human tissue, which leads to limited number of tested protocols for macrophage detection. One study by Przybyla (Przybyla et al. 2006) investigated macrophages using at least two fields corresponding to 637 µm x 475 µm. The method by Przybyla is similar to the one used in this present assignment, however this present study uses larger images to represent the sample biopsies. As discussed under methodological considerations one problem when counting macrophages in muscle sections is the low presence of cells per fiber. When operating with small observations, data are more sensitive to inaccuracies and errors. Therefore the general aim should be to analyze the highest possible number of fibers in all biopsies.

4.2 Local CD68+ cells following acute unaccustomed bout of heavy resistance training

The purpose of the acute study was to investigate changes in muscle macrophage content and response following a physiological bout of unaccustomed exercise. Findings from this study reported that changes in local macrophage content (CD68+) were seen 24 hours after the damage protocol. CD68+ cell content is expected to increase following a damage protocol, however an increase in CD68+ cells 24 hours post injury is surprisingly fast considering the findings from previous studies. A study by Przybyla (Przybyla et al. 2006) found no changes in CD68+ cells 3 days after an acute bout of exercise in elderly, whereas a study by Paulsen (Paulsen et al. 2012) found the highest CD68+ cell counts on day 4 and day 7 after eccentric exercise of the elbow flexors. A review by Tidball (Tidball and Villalta 2010) suggests that invading phagocytic macrophages reach significantly elevated concentrations 24 hours post injury, but these findings were based on animal studies questioning their application to humans.

This study found that the number of CD68+ cells gradually increase the following days reaching a peak 7 days after the heavy bout of unaccustomed resistance training. These results are similar to results found by Paulsen (Paulsen et al. 2012) under physiological circumstances, Saclier (Saclier et al. 2013) using electric stimulation and Tidball in animal studies (Tidball and Villalta 2010). Due to limitations, this study cannot examine whether the amount of CD68+ cells continuously increase after 7 days, reaching even higher numbers. Also the duration for the increased number of CD68+ cells remains unknown, a study by Mackey (Mackey et al. 2011) has reported increased numbers of CD68+ cells 30 days after a damage protocol. However, damage in this study was induced using electric stimulation and may therefore not imitate scenarios caused by physiological work.

4.3 Local changes in macrophage subtypes following acute bout of resistance training

When distinguishing between pro- and anti-inflammatory macrophages PRE values for anti-inflammatory macrophages seemed slightly higher than pro-inflammatory (Pro: 0.014 / fiber, Anti: 0.020 /fiber), however following the bout of heavy exercise increases in anti-inflammatory macrophages seems to be more pronounced than increases in pro-inflammatory macrophages, increasing 245% and 85%, respectively. These findings are similar to results from a study by Przybyla. Although their analysis generally found a higher absolute number of macrophage to the different time points, they found that a majority of macrophages in skeletal muscle display anti-inflammatory characteristics and that a relatively small subpopulation of macrophages dictates the pro-inflammatory response following an acute bout of exercise. Based on these findings it seems that anti-inflammatory macrophages.

According to literature, local inflammation is characterized by a pro-inflammatory response occuring prior to an anti-inflammatory response. Particularly, this has been shown in studies where damage has induced cell necrosis and regeneration of muscle fibers. Studies have found that interfering with the sequenced polarization of macrophages strongly alters muscle regeneration (Chazaud 2014). In this present study an increased amount of local anti-inflammatory macrophages (CD163+) were seen on day 4 and day 7 post injury in cells/fiber and cells/mm². Compared to baseline, local pro-inflammatory macrophages (CD163-) were significantly higher on day 4 and day 7 for cells/mm², however, when analyzing fiber/mm² significant increases were seen on day 7, but not for day 4 (p = 0.051). These results suggest that pro- and antiinflammatory infiltration occur almost simultaneously. This is in contrast to the previously described local infiltration pattern, suggesting an increased number of pro-inflammatory macrophages prior to the antiinflammatory macrophage response. The findings in this assignment could be explained by limitations of the chosen protocol. This study only investigates macrophage content at certain time points (PRE, 1D, 4D, 7D) however it is likely that an increase in pro-inflammatory macrophages could be observed on day 2 or day 3, prior to the anti-inflammatory macrophages detected at day 4. Another explanation for simultaneous infiltration of macrophage isoforms could relate to the findings in a study by Saclier (Saclier et al. 2013). This study found that macrophage isoforms coexisted in damaged tissue. Fibers in the same area were classified as either early regenerating fibers or late regenerating fibers using myogenin. Early regenerating fibers express increased content of pro-inflammatory macrophages, whereas late regenerating fibers expressed increased content of anti-inflammatory macrophages. These findings suggested that pro- and antiinflammatory macrophage infiltration possibly overlap spatially and temporally in local tissue, in contrast to being two separate events. Such findings could support the results obtained from this acute study, where proand anti-inflammatory macrophages seems to reside in the local tissue simultaneously. The training protocol selected for this experiment clearly plays a crucial role for the missing damage response. One purpose of this study was to investigate changes in local macrophage content following a physiological bout of exercise. As previously described, current knowledge on local macrophage content is mainly based on findings from studies with muscle damage and regenerating fibers. Muscle regeneration is defined only as a response to situations where myonecrosis has first occurred (Grounds 2014), difficult to induce under physiological setings. In such regeneration studies, pro-inflammatory macrophages are believed to perform phagocytosis clearing cell debris from damaged fibers (Bénédicte Chazaud et al. 2009). In this study, no regenerating fibers were observed for any subject. This emphasizes the theory that myofiber necrosis is almost impossible to induce under physiological settings. Additionally, a faded or missing early pro-inflammatory response as seen in my results could be linked to the absence of damaged myofibers. Though speculative, it is possible that since no dead fibers were present in local tissue, no urgent pro-inflammatory response is necessary to clear out cell debris, resulting in a diminished or delayed pro-inflammatory response.

4.4 Macrophages and satellite cells

Cytokines excreted from the muscle in response to inflammation and exercise has been hypothesized to affect systemic inflammation profile (Petersen and Pedersen 2005). Additionally, studies have shown that cytokines expressed by macrophages influence stages of satellite cell proliferation, differentiation and fusion (Arnold et al. 2007). Data on satellite cell content in the acute study was included from the original research paper by Heisterberg (unpublished). These results found an increased satellite cell content 4 days and 7 days after a bout of heavy resistance training in type I fibers. A similar study by Nederveen (Nederveen et al. 2015) found increases in SC content only in type I fibers, however these increases were seen 24h and 48h following resistance exercise. Snijders (Snijders et al. 2015) argues that satellite cell content following an acute bout of exercise increases in the following few days and peaks 72 hours post exercise, but does not go into fiber type specific considerations (Snijders et al. 2015).

When comparing satellite cell data from the acute study with findings from this study, it seems that local macrophages and satellite cell content increase at a similar time. CD68+ cells were upregulated 24 h post injuries, steadily increasing until the last measured sample at day 7. When distinguishing between subtypes, increases in CD68+CD163+ (anti) cells and CD68+CD163- (pro) were seen on day 4 and day 7. This study setup does not allow for any detailed investigations of the relationship between macrophages and satellite cells, the findings, however, indicate that macrophages and satellite cells are upregulated in local muscle simultaneously. It is possible that regulation of satellite cells is administered by cytokines from macrophages. Especially pro-inflammatory macrophages have been suggested to contribute to the proliferation and growth of muscle precursor cells (Arnold et al. 2007). The time frame for upregulation of macrophages and satellite cells elucidated in this study supports the theory provided by Arnold, suggesting a close interaction between satellite cells and macrophages. Also, this present study found that satellite cells increased in type I muscle fibers, but not in type II fibers. This was supported by findings in other studies. Activated satellite cells are associated with muscle stretch, trauma or muscle overload. The findings from this current study could indicate that greater stress have affected type I fibers. This is likely to occur, as type I fibers are generally associated with an early recruitment compared to type II fibers during muscle loading. Type I fibers may therefore suffer more stress/damage compared to type II muscle fibers, expressed by additional satellite cells around these fibers. We did not investigate macrophages in relation to fiber type; however it would be interesting to investigate whether increased macrophage content would appear at sites where satellite cells were upregulated following muscle damage, in this case around type I muscle fibers.

4.5 Mean fiber area following a 12 weeks training intervention

The acute study illustrated a clear anti-inflammatory response 7 days following an acute bout of resistance training. It was then hypothesized that regular resistance training would provide or maintain a heightened anti-inflammatory environment in the muscle, expressed by an increased number of anti-inflammatory macrophages. The purpose of the training study was therefore to examine changes in local tissue following 12 weeks resistance training. Data on mean fiber area was included from the original study by Agergaard (Agergaard et al. 2015). As expected, 12 weeks of resistance training with 3 sessions/week increased fiber mean area of type I and type II fibers in the young group. No effect was seen in the elderly group before and after training for type I or type II fibers. Previous studies have found increases in mean fiber area in elderly following a 12 week resistance training intervention – especially in type II fibers. A study by Verdijk tested 13 men elderly men (aged 72) and observed significant increases only in type II mean fiber area (Verdijk et al. 2009). Another study by Esmarck found similar results in elderly men aged 74. This study reported increases in type II mean fiber area, but no changes in type I mean fiber area (Esmarck et al. 2001). It is therefore surprising that no changes were seen in the present study by Agergaard. According to the study

there was a tendency towards a time effect of type II fibers (p = 0.074), Agergaard therefore speculates that the training period in the study was too short for the elderly to adapt to the chosen resistance training protocol.

4.6 CD68+ cells in resting muscle

The first finding from the 12 week training study is that the number of macrophages in skeletal muscle is low when no prior damage has been induced to fibers. Data from this training study found 0.053 CD68+ cells/fiber in young muscle and 0.047 CD68+ cells/fiber in old muscle. Baseline values in the acute study (from this assignment) found that elderly had 0.037 CD68+ cells/fiber. In both experiments (acute study and 12 week training study) some muscle cross sections showed no or very little CD68+ activity when analyzed, indicating that no macrophages were present in the tissue at that time. These findings are consistent with findings from another study investigating macrophage content in young and elderly by Charmaine (Charmaine and Sparks 2012). Charmaine reported CD68+ content as percent muscle macrophages (macrophages/fibers x100) and found that macrophage content in a resting state was 4.7 % in young muscle and 4 % in old muscle. When presenting numbers from this current assignment in a similar way macrophage content is 5.3 % in young muscle and 4.7 % in old muscle. Interestingly, the study by Charmaine found that CD68+ cells were only present in 12 (6 young, 6 old) out of 25 skeletal muscle samples. Although large interpersonal variations occur, these findings suggest that macrophage content in the rested muscle is limited; sometimes macrophages even seem to be absent. The presence of macrophages in resting tissue could be speculated to have some important regulatory properties, maintaining an optimal environment for neighboring cells. Another important role for resident macrophages could be to quickly respond to foreign substances, functioning as a first line of defense. Resident macrophages have been theorized to produce cytokines that are important for recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes to the inflammation site. However since resident macrophage content regardless of age and training appear to be minimal, it could be speculated that low quantities of resident macrophages are sufficient for recruitment of immune cells during infection/damage or that other local cells contribute to the recruitment as well. Macrophages (CD68+) in resting muscle were also investigated in a study by Mackey (Mackey et al. 2011). Most of her observations report macrophage content lower than 15 cells/mm² in resting muscle, which is similar to findings in this study where 8.4 cells/mm² and 8.1 cells/mm² were found for young and old resting muscle, respectively. Additionally, some observations from the study by Mackey ranged around 1-2 cells/mm², supporting the theory that in some muscle samples, macrophages are hardly detected. These findings taken together indicate that CD68+ observations across studies are similar. Despite great individual variations between subjects these presented studies have observed similar macrophage content expressed as cells/fiber or cells/mm². A study by Przybyla reported much higher CD68+ observations before and after a training intervention than those seen in other studies (Przybyla et al. 2006). With no prior muscle damage, macrophage content is local tissue is generally low. This presents some difficulties when analyzing data from biopsies with no prior damage.

4.7 CD68+ following a 12 weeks resistance training intervention

In this study the old group had significantly higher content of CD68+ cells/ mm² when compared to the young group after a training intervention. As previously described cell counts illustrated pr. mm² do not necessarily express actual circumstances. Old muscle fibers are generally smaller than young muscle fibers, which influences the proportions of the image. Images are composed of muscle fibers and connective tissue. Muscle fibers will take up a more area relative to connective tissue in images with big fibers, which may influence cell counts, as macrophages are located in the connective tissue. With regards to that, data has been illustrated as cells/ fiber in addition to cells/mm².

When analyzing CD68+ cells/fiber significant increases in CD68+ cells were observed following 12 weeks of resistance training for the old group, but not for the young group. Additionally, no TIME effect were observed for anti- (CD68+CD163+ cells) or pro-inflammatory macrophages (CD68+CD163- cells) for any of the groups. This indicates that macrophages do not seem to accumulate in tissue during a training intervention. Despite increases in CD68+ cells in the OLD group following 12 weeks of resistance training, no accumulative effects were observed for any macrophage isoform. To our knowledge no previous studies have tested the hypothesis of macrophage accumulation in healthy elderly following a training intervention. We hypothesized that resistance training would cause upregulation in local macrophage content in the resting muscle. The assumptions were that increased quantities of anti-inflammatory macrophages in resting muscle following a training intervention, could protect the muscle against symptoms associated with chronic increases in pro-inflammatory cytokines. Though speculative, it was hypothesized that an increased anti-inflammatory local environment could even affect the systemic circulation and influence low grade inflammation, although additional investigations are necessary to test this thesis. The findings from this study though suggest that no such accumulation of macrophages seems to appear, since no additive effects of macrophages were present for any macrophage isoform.

It is possible that the findings in this assignment, reporting increased content of CD68+ cells in the OLD group does not reflect the entire training intervention, but simply a delayed damage response to one individual training session prior to the biopsy extraction. This could explain the elevated number of CD68+ cells in the elderly group. This, however, seems unlikely due to the intensity of the exercise protocol and the repeated bout effect. The *repeated bout effect* covers the adaptation of tissue to a repeated stimulus. This means that muscle damage may appear when subjects are unaccustomed to an exercise. However, when the same exercise is performed again within a certain period of time, it does not induce as severe muscle damage

as that induced previously (Mchugh 2003). Since the elderly in this study have had several weeks to adapt to the training intervention, this explanation for the results seems unlikely.

Though speculative, another explanation for the differences observed in CD68+ cells in the old group following resistance training, could be that the response to heavy unaccustomed exercise in elderly is delayed compared to the young group. Mackey illustrated that macrophage content (CD68+) was heightened 30 days following electric stimulation in young subjects, suggesting that muscle adaptation to damage is an extensive process of long duration (Mackey et al. 2011). Damage was not induced in this study, but the young group may have adapted to the training intervention faster than the elderly group. The increases in elderly CD68+ may therefore simply express a prolonged resolution of inflammation in elderly.

4.8 Changes in macrophage subtypes following a 12 week resistance training intervention

We hypothesized that young muscle contained a more anti-inflammatory environment compared to muscle in elderly expressed by an increased number of anti-inflammatory macrophages. Additionally, we expected that a 12 week resistance training intervention would alter local inflammatory profile contributing to a less inflamed muscle environment. In literature macrophage subpopulations have not been investigated extensively, therefore previous findings are scarce. A study by Lee investigated macrophage isoforms and their correlation to strength gains in elderly. This study found that 12 weeks of resistance training in elderly significantly increased anti-inflammatory macrophages, whereas no changes were seen in pro-inflammatory macrophages (Lee and Peterson 2012). Endurance exercise has been related to elevated anti-inflammatory release in systemic circulation and increases in anti-inflammatory macrophages have been observed following one bout of unaccustomed heavy resistance training. The main finding from this 12 week resistance training intervention was that no effect of time were seen for pro (CD68+CD163+) or anti-inflammatory macrophages (CD68+CD163-). Based on these findings, resistance training does not seem to alter/accumulate local macrophage content significantly.

Another surprising finding was that elderly in general seemed to have a higher content of anti-inflammatory macrophages compared to the young group. One possible explaining for this could be the link between anti-inflammatory macrophages and connective tissue. As previously described, anti-inflammatory macrophages secrete factors that dampen inflammation and stimulate growth. Transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) is one of such factors, characterized by pro-fibrotic functions. It is speculated that an increased and persistent presence of macrophages modifies the intensity and duration of released growth factors from especially anti-inflammatory macrophages. This consequently could lead to excessive extracellular matrix (ECM) accumulation and replacement of muscle with fibrotic tissue (Mann et al. 2011; Lech and Anders 2013). Aging is associated with a loss in muscle mass and accompanying increases in fibrotic tissue (Mann et al. 2011). It is possible that the increased content of anti-inflammatory macrophages found in this present study

could therefore be related to structural changes in connective tissue rather than an inflammatory response in the muscle. A study by Novak (Novak, Weinheimer-Haus, and Koh 2014) found that increased proinflammatory macrophage content in muscle tissue decreased fibrosis and enhanced fiber regeneration in lacerated muscle. These findings could be a possible explanation for the increased content of proinflammatory macrophages seen in the young muscle compared to muscle from elderly. An increased content of pro-inflammatory macrophages may actually benefit muscle regeneration, and the findings that proinflammatory macrophages are lowered in muscle from elderly could again suggest the possibility that macrophage counts as those conducted in this study are related to structural changes in the ECM rather than inflammation.

4.9 General considerations

When investigating inflammation several difficulties arise. The immune system is composed of a large number biological structures and processes within the organism. The immune system is a host defense system that protects the body from foreign objects and diseases. The primary focus of investigation in this assignment has been macrophages; however we cannot rule out that other immune cells are equally important for regulation of inflammation. T-lymphocytes, B-lymphocytes and mast cells, also secrete cytokines - some which are similar to those expressed by macrophages (Mosser and Edwards 2008). Due to the complexity of the immune system and the interaction between various cells types, simply investigating macrophages may not provide the full picture of inflammation. Another major complication when analyzing macrophages and inflammation is that we do not know what constitutes an appropriate response to muscle damage or training in general. One purpose of this study has been to illustrate the inflammation process following an acute bout of unaccustomed resistance training in elderly. Despite some insight through animal studies, it remains to be elucidated whether a prolonged response to damage in humans is beneficial or unfavorable - and how a response in elderly corresponds to young subjects. Such future studies could be helpful for a better understanding of inflammation and the immune system. Other future findings could investigate the connection between local and systemic inflammation. As we have seen, some studies have proposed a myokine effect on chronic inflammation (Petersen and Pedersen 2005), but the connection between local- and systemic inflammatory factors still remains unclear.

From a methodological point of view it could have been interesting to combine findings from immunohistochemistry with gene expression analysis of different cytokines related to macrophage isoforms. This could support our findings and indicate potential changes in macrophage activity following our interventions.

5 Conclusion

Studies have shown that local inflammation in response to muscle damage is tightly orchestrated by macrophages, playing an important role for successful muscle regeneration and muscle maintenance. Additionally, aging has been associated with chronic levels of heightened inflammation, which has been linked to loss of muscle strength and mass in elderly. Studies on local inflammation following resistance training in humans are sparse, possibly due to the current available methods for detection of macrophages.

In the present study we were able to develop a reliable method for detection of anti-inflammatory macrophages, but TNF- α and iNOS were not successful for detection of pro-inflammatory macrophages. Instead we attempted to distinguish pro- from anti-inflammatory macrophages using CD68+CD163- (pro) and CD68+CD163+ (anti). With this protocol we observed that macrophage infiltration (CD68+) occurs early after a heavy bout of resistance training (24 hours), and gradually increases over the next 7 days post exercise. Pro- and anti-inflammatory macrophages increased simultaneously on day 4 and day 7 and this coincided with increased satellite cell content in type I muscle fibers.

Following a 12 week resistance training intervention, no changes were detected in resting muscle for pro- or anti-inflammatory macrophage isoforms. These findings indicate that macrophages do not accumulate following a resistance training intervention. Another interesting observation in the elderly and young groups was that macrophage content in skeletal muscle was very low or absent when no prior damage had been induced to fibers.

Contrary to previous beliefs, muscle in elderly contained more anti-inflammatory macrophages than young muscle. This could be related to macrophage functions in situations other than simply inflammation, highlighting the complex nature of macrophages.

In conclusion, this study finds macrophage response to acute training induced muscle injury, but no adaptation following a resistance training intervention. The findings from this study are not sufficient to explain the function of macrophages and their connection to Sarcopenia. Future studies should aim to locate a reliable antibody for detection of pro-inflammatory macrophages, whereas other studies should investigate the interaction between local and systemic inflammation.

References

- Agergaard, J, J Trøstrup, J Uth, J Iversen, A Boesen, JL Andersen, P Schjerling, and H Langberg. 2015.
 "Does Vitamin-D Intake during Resistance Training Improve the Skeletal Muscle Hypertrophic and Strength Response in Young and Elderly Men? - a Randomized Controlled Trial." *Nutrition & Metabolism* 12 (1). Nutrition & Metabolism.
- Andersen, Jesper L. 2003. "Muscle Fibre Type Adaptation in the Elderly Human Muscle." *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports* 13 (1): 40–47.
- Arnold, L, A Henry, F Poron, Y Baba-Amer, N van Rooijen, A Plonquet, R K Gherardi, and B Chazaud. 2007. "Inflammatory Monocytes Recruited after Skeletal Muscle Injury Switch into Antiinflammatory Macrophages to Support Myogenesis." J Exp Med 204 (5): 1057–69.
- Baumgartner, R N, K M Koehler, D Gallagher, L Romero, S B Heymsfield, R R Ross, P J Garry, and R D Lindeman. 1998. "Epidemiology of Sarcopenia among the Elderly in New Mexico." *American Journal* of Epidemiology 147 (8): 755–63.
- Bautmans, Ivan, Rose Njemini, Margareta Lambert, Christian Demanet, and Tony Mets. 2005. "Circulating Acute Phase Mediators and Skeletal Muscle Performance in Hospitalized Geriatric Patients." *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 60 (3): 361–67.
- Brigitte, Madly, Clementine Schilte, Anne Plonquet, Yasmine Baba-Amer, Adeline Henri, Caroline Charlier, Shahragim Tajbakhsh, Matthew Albert, Romain K. Gherardi, and Fabrice Chrétien. 2010. "Muscle Resident Macrophages Control the Immune Cell Reaction in a Mouse Model of Notexin-Induced Myoinjury." Arthritis and Rheumatism 62 (1): 268–79.
- Burks, Tyesha N, Eva Andres-mateos, Ruth Marx, Rebeca Mejias, Christel Van Erp, Jessica L Simmers, Jeremy D Walston, Christopher W Ward, and Ronald D Cohn. 2011. "Losartan Restores Skeletal Muscle Remodeling and Protects Against Disuse Atrophy in Sarcopenia." *Sci Transl Med* 3 (82).
- Charmaine, TAM, and Lauren Sparks. 2012. "Low Macrophage Accumulation in Skeletal Muscle of Obese Type 2 Diabetics and Elderly Subjects." *Obesity* 6 (2): 356–72.
- Chazaud, Benedicte. 2014. "Macrophages: Supportive Cells for Tissue Repair and Regeneration." *Immunobiology*. Elsevier GmbH. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2013.09.001.
- . 2015. "Inflammation during Skeletal Muscle Regeneration and Tissue Remodeling-Application to Exercise-Induced Muscle Damage Management." *Immunology and Cell Biology*, no. October 2015: 140–45.
- Chazaud, Bénédicte, Madly Brigitte, Houda Yacoub-Youssef, Ludovic Arnold, Romain Gherardi, Corinne Sonnet, Peggy Lafuste, and Fabrice Chretien. 2009. "Dual and Beneficial Roles of Macrophages during Skeletal Muscle Regeneration." *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews* 37 (1): 18–22.
- Clyne, B, and J S Olshaker. 1999. "The C-Reactive Protein." J.Emerg.Med. 17 (0736-4679): 1019-25.
- Collins, Charlotte a., Irwin Olsen, Peter S. Zammit, Louise Heslop, Aviva Petrie, Terence a. Partridge, and Jennifer E. Morgan. 2005. "Stem Cell Function, Self-Renewal, and Behavioral Heterogeneity of Cells from the Adult Muscle Satellite Cell Niche." *Cell* 122 (2): 289–301.

Conboy. 2008. "Aging and Stem Cell Renewal." StemBook, 1-14.

- Davies, Luke C, Stephen J Jenkins, Judith E Allen, and Philip R Taylor. 2013. "Tissue-Resident Macrophages." *Nature Immunology* 14 (10): 986–95.
- Degens, H. 2010. "The Role of Systemic Inflammation in Age-Related Muscle Weakness and Wasting: Review." *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports* 20 (1): 28–38.
- Deschenes, Michael R. 2004. "Effects of Aging on Muscle Fibre Type and Size." *Sports Medicine* (*Auckland, N.Z.*) 34 (12): 809–24.
- Esmarck, B., J. L. Andersen, S. Olsen, E. a. Richter, M. Mizuno, and M. Kjær. 2001. "Timing of Postexercise Protein Intake Is Important for Muscle Hypertrophy with Resistance Training in Elderly Humans." *Journal of Physiology* 535 (1): 301–11.
- Ferrero-Miliani, L., O. H. Nielsen, P. S. Andersen, and S. E. Girardin. 2007. "Chronic Inflammation: Importance of NOD2 and NALP3 in Interleukin-1?? Generation." *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 147 (2): 227–35.
- Fry, Christopher S., Jonah D. Lee, Jyothi Mula, Tyler J. Kirby, Janna R. Jackson, Fujun Liu, Lin Yang, et al. 2015. "Inducible Depletion of Satellite Cells in Adult, Sedentary Mice Impairs Muscle Regenerative Capacity but Does Not Contribute to Sarcopenia." *Nature Medicine 21*, 76–80 (2015).
- Garatachea, Nuria, Helios Pareja-Galeano, Fabian Sanchis-Gomar, Alejandro Santos-Lozano, Carmen Fiuza-Luces, María Morán, Enzo Emanuele, Michael J. Joyner, and Alejandro Lucia. 2015. "Exercise Attenuates the Major Hallmarks of Aging." *Rejuvenation Research* 18 (1): 57–89.
- Gottfried, E., L. a. Kunz-Schughart, A. Weber, M. Rehli, A. Peuker, A. M??ller, M. Kastenberger, G. Brockhoff, R. Andreesen, and M. Kreutz. 2008. "Expression of CD68 in Non-Myeloid Cell Types." *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology* 67 (5): 453–63.
- Greiwe, J S, C Bo, D C Rubin, K E Yarasheski, and C F Semenkovich. 2001. "Resistance Exercise Decreases Skeletal Muscle Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha in Frail Elderly Humans." *FASEB Journal* 15 (2): 475–82.
- Grounds, Miranda D. 2014. "The Need to More Precisely Define Aspects of Skeletal Muscle Regeneration." International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology 56. Elsevier Ltd: 56–65.
- Hikida, Robert S. 2011. "Aging Changes in Satellite Cells and Their Functions." *Current Aging Science* 4 (3): 279–97.
- Janssen, Ian, Steven B Heymsfield, and Robert Ross. 2002. "Low Relative Skeletal Muscle Mass (sarcopenia) in Older Persons Is Associated with Functional Impairment and Physical Disability." *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 50 (5): 889–96.
- Kumar, Suresh, and Robert Jack. 2006. "Origin of Monocytes and Their Differentiation to Macrophages and Dendritic Cells." *Journal of Endotoxin Research* 12 (5): 278–84.
- Leask, A., and David J. Abraham. 2004. "TGF- Signaling and the Fibrotic Response." *The FASEB Journal* 18 (7): 816–27.

- Lech, Maciej, and Hans Joachim Anders. 2013. "Macrophages and Fibrosis: How Resident and Infiltrating Mononuclear Phagocytes Orchestrate All Phases of Tissue Injury and Repair." *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease* 1832 (7). Elsevier B.V.: 989–97.
- Lee, JD, and Charlotte A. Peterson. 2012. "Anti-Inflammatory Muscle Macrophage Phenotype Is Predictive of Resistance Training Gain in Older Individuals." *The FASEB Journal* 26 (no1. supplement). http://www.fasebj.org/content/26/1_Supplement/1143.12.short.
- Lemos, Dario R, Farshad Babaeijandaghi, Marcela Low, Chih-Kai Chang, Sunny T Lee, Daniela Fiore, Regan-Heng Zhang, Anuradha Natarajan, Sergei a Nedospasov, and Fabio M V Rossi. 2015. "Nilotinib Reduces Muscle Fibrosis in Chronic Muscle Injury by Promoting TNF-Mediated Apoptosis of Fibro/adipogenic Progenitors." *Nature Medicine* 21 (7): 786–94.
- Levinger, I., C. Goodman, J. Peake, A. Garnham, D. L. Hare, G. Jerums, and S. Selig. 2009. "Inflammation, Hepatic Enzymes and Resistance Training in Individuals with Metabolic Risk Factors." *Diabetic Medicine* 26 (3): 220–27.
- Lexell, Jan, Charles C Taylor, and Michael Sjöström. 1988. "What Is the Cause of the Ageing Atrophy?" *Journal of the Neurological Sciences* 84 (2-3): 275–94.
- Li, Hong, Shweta Malhotra, and Ashok Kumar. 2008. "Nuclear Factor-Kappa B Signaling in Skeletal Muscle Atrophy." *Journal of Molecular Medicine (Berlin, Germany)* 86 (10): 1113–26.
- Mackey, Abigail L, Simon Brandstetter, Peter Schjerling, Jens Bojsen-Moller, Klaus Qvortrup, Mette M Pedersen, Simon Doessing, Michael Kjaer, S Peter Magnusson, and Henning Langberg. 2011.
 "Sequenced Response of Extracellular Matrix Deadhesion and Fibrotic Regulators after Muscle Damage Is Involved in Protection against Future Injury in Human Skeletal Muscle." *The FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* 25 (6): 1943–59. doi:10.1096/fj.10-176487.
- Mann, Christopher J, Eusebio Perdiguero, Yacine Kharraz, Susana Aguilar, Patrizia Pessina, Antonio L Serrano, and Pura Muñoz-Cánoves. 2011. "Aberrant Repair and Fibrosis Development in Skeletal Muscle." *Skeletal Muscle* 1 (1): 21.
- Mantovani, a, A Sica, S Sozzani, P Allavena, A Vecchi, and M Locati. 2004. "The Chemokine System in Diverse Forms of Macrophage Activation and Polarization." *Trends in Immunology* 25 (12): 677–86.
- Mchugh, Malachy P. 2003. "Recent Advances in the Understanding of the Repeated Bout Effect: The Protective Effect against Muscle Damage from a Single Bout of Eccentric Exercise." *Scand J Sci Sports* 13: 88–97.
- Merritt EK, Michael J Stec, Anna Thalacker-Mercer, Samuel T Windham, James M Cross, David P Shelley, S Craig Tuggle, David J Kosek, Jeong-Su Kim, and Marcas M Bamman. 2013. "Heightened Muscle Inflammation Susceptibility May Impair Regenerative Capacity in Aging Humans." *Journal of Applied Physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985)* 115 (6): 937–48.
- Minciullo, Paola Lucia, Antonino Catalano, Giuseppe Mandraffino, Marco Casciaro, Andrea Crucitti, Giuseppe Maltese, Nunziata Morabito, Antonino Lasco, Sebastiano Gangemi, and Giorgio Basile. 2016. "Inflammaging and Anti-Inflammaging: The Role of Cytokines in Extreme Longevity." *Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis* 64 (2). Springer International Publishing: 111–26.

- Mosser, David M., and Justin P. Edwards. 2008. "Exploring the Full Spectrum of Macrophage Activation." *Nature Reviews Immunology* 8 (12). Nature Publishing Group: 958–69.
- Munoz-Canoves, Pura, Camilla Scheele, Bente K. Pedersen, and Antonio L. Serrano. 2013. "Interleukin-6 Myokine Signaling in Skeletal Muscle: A Double-Edged Sword?" *FEBS Journal* 280 (17): 4131–48.
- Murray, PJ, and TA Wynn. 2012. "Protective and Pathogenic Functions of Macrophage Subsets." *Nat Rev Immunol* 11 (11): 723–37.
- Nederveen, J. P., S. Joanisse, C. M L Seguin, K. E. Bell, S. K. Baker, S. M. Phillips, and G. Parise. 2015. "The Effect of Exercise Mode on the Acute Response of Satellite Cells in Old Men." *Acta Physiologica* 215 (4): 177–90.
- Novak, Margaret L, Eileen M Weinheimer-Haus, and Timothy J Koh. 2014. "Macrophage Activation and Skeletal Muscle Healing Following Traumatic Injury." *The Journal of Pathology* 232 (3): 344–55. doi:10.1002/path.4301.
- Parker, Maura H. 2015. "The Altered Fate of Aging Satellite Cells Is Determined by Signaling and Epigenetic Changes." *Frontiers in Genetics* 6 (February): 1–7.
- Paulsen, Gøran, Ingrid Egner, Truls Raastad, Finn Reinholt, Simen Owe, Fredrik Lauritzen, Sverre Henning Brorson, and Satu Koskinen. 2012. "Inflammatory Markers CD11b, CD16, CD66b, CD68, Myeloperoxidase and Neutrophil Elastase in Eccentric Exercised Human Skeletal Muscles." *Histochemistry and Cell Biology*, 1–25.
- Pepys, Mark B, and Gideon M Hirschfield. 2003. "C-Reactive Protein : A Critical Update" 111 (12): 1805– 12.
- Petersen, a.M.W., and B.K. Pedersen. 2005. "The Anti-Inflammatory Effect of Exercise." *J Appl Physiol* 98: 1154–62.
- Porter, M M, a a Vandervoort, and J Lexell. 1995. "Aging of Human Muscle: Structure, Function and Adaptability." *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports* 5 (3): 129–42.
- Przybyla, Beata, Cathy Gurley, Jonathan F. Harvey, Edward Bearden, Patrick Kortebein, William J. Evans, Dennis H. Sullivan, Charlotte a. Peterson, and Richard a. Dennis. 2006. "Aging Alters Macrophage Properties in Human Skeletal Muscle Both at Rest and in Response to Acute Resistance Exercise." *Experimental Gerontology* 41 (3): 320–27.
- Roth, S M, G F Martel, F M Ivey, J T Lemmer, B L Tracy, E J Metter, B F Hurley, and M a Rogers. 2001.
 "Skeletal Muscle Satellite Cell Characteristics in Young and Older Men and Women after Heavy Resistance Strength Training." *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 56 (6): B240–47.
- Saclier, M, S Cuvellier, M Magnan, R Mounier, and B Chazaud. 2013. "Monocyte/macrophage Interactions with Myogenic Precursor Cells during Skeletal Muscle Regeneration." *Febs J* 280 (17): 4118–30.
- Saclier, Marielle, Houda Yacoub-Youssef, Abigail L. Mackey, Ludovic Arnold, Hamida Ardjoune, Mélanie Magnan, Frédéric Sailhan, et al. 2013. "Differentially Activated Macrophages Orchestrate Myogenic Precursor Cell Fate During Human Skeletal Muscle Regeneration." STEM CELLS 31 (2): 384–96. doi:10.1002/stem.1288.

- Sambasivan, Ramkumar, Roseline Yao, Adrien Kissenpfennig, Laetitia Van Wittenberghe, Andràs Paldi, Barbara Gayraud-Morel, Hind Guenou, Bernard Malissen, Shahragim Tajbakhsh, and Anne Galy. 2011. "Pax7-Expressing Satellite Cells Are Indispensable for Adult Skeletal Muscle Regeneration." Development 138 (17): 3647–56.
- Shefer, Gabi, Daniel P Van De Mark, Joshua B Richardson, and Zipora Yablonka-reuveni. 2006. "Satellite-Cell Pool Size Does Matter: Defining the Myogenic Potency of Aging Skeletal Muscle Gabi." *Dev Biol* 294 (1): 50–66.
- Shenkman, B S, O V Turtikova, T L Nemirovskaya, and a I Grigoriev. 2010. "Skeletal Muscle Activity and the Fate of Myonuclei." *Acta Naturae* 2 (2): 59–66.
- Shine, B., F. C. de Beer, and M. B. Pepys. 1981. "Solid Phase Radioimmunoassays for Human C-Reactive Protein." *Clinica Chimica Acta* 117 (1): 13–23.
- Snijders, Tim, Joshua P. Nederveen, Bryon R. McKay, Sophie Joanisse, Lex B. Verdijk, Luc J C van Loon, and Gianni Parise. 2015. "Satellite Cells in Human Skeletal Muscle Plasticity." *Frontiers in Physiology* 6 (OCT): 1–21.
- Tidball, James G, and S Armando Villalta. 2010. "Regulatory Interactions between Muscle and the Immune System during Muscle Regeneration." *American Journal of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 298 (5): R1173–87.
- Tomlinson, B.E., and Dorothy Irving. 1977. "The Numbers of Limb Motor Neurons in the Human Lumbosacral Cord throughout Life." *Journal of the Neurological Sciences* 34 (2): 213–19.
- Tonkin, Joanne, Lieve Temmerman, Robert D. Sampson, Enrique Gallego-Colon, Laura Barberi, Daniel Bilbao, Michael D. Schneider, Antonio Musarò, and Nadia Rosenthal. 2015. "Monocyte/Macrophage-Derived IGF-1 Orchestrates Murine Skeletal Muscle Regeneration and Modulates Autocrine Polarization." *Molecular Therapy* 23 (7): 1189–1200.
- Van der Meer, S. F T, R. T. Jaspers, and H. Degens. 2011. "Is the Myonuclear Domain Size Fixed?" *Journal of Musculoskeletal Neuronal Interactions* 11 (4): 286–97.
- Verdijk, Lex B., Benjamin G. Gleeson, Richard a M Jonkers, Kenneth Meijer, Hans H C M Savelberg, Paul Dendale, and Luc J C Van Loon. 2009. "Skeletal Muscle Hypertrophy Following Resistance Training Is Accompanied by a Fiber Type-Specific Increase in Satellite Cell Content in Elderly Men." *Journals* of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences 64 (3): 332–39.
- Verdijk, Lex B., Tim Snijders, Maarten Drost, Tammo Delhaas, Fawzi Kadi, and Luc J. C. van Loon. 2014. "Satellite Cells in Human Skeletal Muscle; from Birth to Old Age." *Age* 36 (2): 545–57.
- Visser, Marjolein, Marco Pahor, Dennis R Taaffe, Bret H Goodpaster, Eleanor M Simonsick, Anne B Newman, Michael Nevitt, and Tamara B Harris. 2002. "Relationship of Interleukin-6 and Tumor Necrosis Factor-Alpha with Muscle Mass and Muscle Strength in Elderly Men and Women: The Health ABC Study." *Journal of Gerontology: Medical Sciences* 57A (5): M326–32.
- Wagers, Amy J., and Irina M. Conboy. 2005. "Cellular and Molecular Signatures of Muscle Regeneration: Current Concepts and Controversies in Adult Myogenesis." *Cell* 122 (5): 659–67.
- WHO. 2013. "Life Expectancy Data by Country." http://apps.who.int/gho/data/node.main.688.

- Yin, H., F. Price, and M. a. Rudnicki. 2013. "Satellite Cells and the Muscle Stem Cell Niche." *Physiological Reviews* 93 (1): 23–67.
- Zammit, P. S., T. a. Partridge, and Z. Yablonka-Reuveni. 2006. "The Skeletal Muscle Satellite Cell: The Stem Cell That Came in From the Cold." *Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry* 54 (11): 1177–91.

Appendix



Appendix 1. Figure A. Changes in muscular CD68+ content following an acute bout of heavy resistance training. Original data for the Placebo and Losartan group individually (**Left**) presented as cells / fiber (**Right**) presented as cells / mm^2 These groups were pooled in the assignment, since no effect of Losartan consumption was found. Data is presented as geometric mean \pm back transformed SEM.



Appendix 1. Figure B. Changes in muscular CD68+CD163+ content following an acute bout of heavy resistance training. Original data for the Placebo and Losartan group individually (Left) presented as cells / fiber (**Right**) presented as cells / mm² These groups were pooled in the assignment, since no effect of Losartan consumption was found. Data is presented as geometric mean \pm back transformed SEM.



Appendix 1. Figure C. Changes in muscular CD68+CD163- content following an acute bout of heavy resistance training. Original data for the Placebo and Losartan group individually (Left) presented as cells / fiber (**Right**) presented as cells / mm² These groups were pooled in the assignment, since no effect of Losartan consumption was found. Data is presented as geometric mean \pm back transformed SEM.